He lauded the eornest effort made by the residents of
many blocks to launch community representation in accordance
with the outlined plan:; and stated, "It is obvious that unless
the residents are virtually unanimous in thelir participation
in the selection of the Representative Committee, then the
committee cannot be truly representative,"

In conclusion he expressed the belief that the formation
of the representstive body should be postponed until a more
favorable date "in fairness to the entire community,"

WRA TAKES OVER STOCKAILE

On May 26 it was announced in the Newell Star, that VRA

had taken over complete charge of the stockade. Nothing 1is
xnown at present on the reasons Washington or the local Adminis-
tration had for doing thils.

WRA IN COMrLETR CHAKGE OF S5I0CKAlE ALMINLIGIRALLION

i‘he VRA is now in complete charge of the administration
of the sepgregated area within the center, it was announced by
Froject Director Kay H. Best on rednesday. Tnls area wihich
has been commonly termed the "stockade" had been established
by the Army authorities and administered Dy the Army prior to
th time. A~ stated in the MEWELL STAR last week, releases
have been made from the area to the residence section of the
center by a WHA committee working with Army ofiiclals.

The administration of the segregated area:b, the WRA
as announced by the froject Lirector means that comple te
supervision will be in ths hands of the project officials.
This will inelude mess operation and arrangements for medical
and other necessary services,

#1f+een of the internees also requested legal consul at
this ti"B.l Cetting assistance in this matter took some time,
The internses' relatives were, for the most part, quite ignorant
of legal metters and did not know to whom to turn., Consulting
the project attorney, they folt was out of the question. K,
expressed the following opinion of Lhe stockada sltuation:

"I hear thet Kal is going to be released. DBut if they

ljet Kai go they must let the rest go. LI they did that 1t would
create & much more happy atmosphere.”'” '

lipig., lay 23, p. l.
24v14d., May 21, p. 6.




Criticlism toward Ex-Coordinatines Committee ond Internal Security

In spite of the more "normal"™ atmosphere of the camp at
this time, informants still expressed hatred toward inu, the
ex-Coordinating Committee and the Internal Security. The
following remarks were made by two individuals of very different
convictions. The first came from an active member of a pressure
group.

"The Co-ordinating Committee kept thoir positions altogether
too long, not knowing they were not wanted, No matter how
wall educated they wers, they didn't know what they were doing.

"L don't think nne of them will ever repatriate "

)

“Not while I'm alive, bot

said another person presen
The followinsg statement was made by a very conservative
mand who never has and probably never will take part in any
controvearsy:
"Some of the people say the Co-ordinating Commlttee didn't
finish their work. They made a atatement in the parer that
they had completed their work but more than 50 persons are still

in there (the stockade). Some of the isset were sent to the
internment camp, which mads the group mad,"

Iris man's wife now told me what she had heard about the
beatings the boys in the stockade had received., She had been
told by a friend employed in the hospital and "Ihis girl

n

wasn't the kind to lie. bhe then sald:

5ome people say they'd 1ike to know where they get the
scum they hire on Internel Security. Internal Security has a
very bad name,"<

MR, BeST'S ATTITULE COWAKD E X-SANTA FE AND LEUPP INTE RNGES

(This topic has no particular cornection here and:may be

inserted elsewhera,)
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The internees from Leupp who arrived Lecember 6th and the
internees from Santa Fe who were allowed to join their familles
in Tule Leke durlng the spring of 1944 frequently criticlzed
the reception they receilved from kr. Best. Defore releasing
them in the camp Mr. Best was accustomed to call the men %o
his office and lecture them on behaving themselves end warn
them to remain out of all political activities. Many ex-
internees remarked that they had come to Tule Lake with good
intentions and were provoked by this preliminary interview,
Mr, "U", a Stanford graduate, who during his stay in Santa
Fe had been the acknowledged internment center leader, stated
that he had had every intent to co-operats with Mpr, Best but
after he was called up and lectured like a releasec from a

reform school he was disgusted., He considsred Mr, Best's

attitude small minded snd petty. Mrs. "Q" who acquainted

with many ex-internees rearked:

"Wwhen people cows lere from Santa re or when they are
released from the stockads, Mr. Best tells them, 'Now I don't
want to pub you in the stockade again.' That makes them mad.
That hasn't helped Mr, Best in the last few weeks. It hurt
him in the wiole colony."+

Almost every ex-Leupp internee remsrked that their filve
daye imprisonment 1n the stockade after their arrival at Tule
gave them a splendld cpportunity to become prejudiced in

fixra

favor oi the Laluyo She Kal, ¥" discussed his feellngs

gulte Irankly:

"If Mr. Best hed been s high minded man 1 would have co-

operated. with him very much, e spent ten months in Leupp.

libid., p. 2




Ve felt we pald our debts. Eut when we came here they stuck
us in the stockade for five days. If he had not done that I'd
folt he was a fine man. Then when they left us out, he said,
'"Don't you ever stick your nose in any political matter.

"If we hadn't gone to the stockade for five days we
wouldn't nhave neard so muech about 1t. DBut we got a pretiy
clear plcture beInh 1T there. When we got out of the stockade
we were pretty wise.

Another young kibel who had beern sent to Leupp from Tule
Lake sald:

"1 give credit ({for my prejudice) Lo whaeVOr put me 1in
the stockade., It gave me a one-sided view."

Probably the most disillusloning experience was suffered

b

by flG!l .

"Whern I cam to Tule I was pvt In tho stockads and stayed
there Ior dnyOXim&tBlJ oix months, 1 was rather downhearted
bacause ol the fact that I Lad nothing to do with the incident.
1 saw very llttle resson for being confined ln the stockade

with persons alleged tc have something to do with the incident.

"After I was there two months I had not exsctly a hearing,
but the person in charge ol uhe slockade at that tlwe, Captain
3

Hartman, told me my past record was so bad that I had to be
kept in the stlockade until the conditlion in camp cleared up.

“lhen while 4 gyas in the stockade two persons vwere beaten
up in the stockade.” 1 was nearby when 1t happened. 1
reiterated to the WRA Internal Security personnel that since
I was a stranger there I had very little contact with the boys.
lherefore, while I was at the place where the beating was done
1l couldn't tell the names of the persons who did the beating
because I didn't know. This is my feeling, The authorities
felt that 1 was withholdingz the fects.

"I think the general opinion of the people in the stockade
was that this man was stealing goods suprosed to be given to
the colonlats. One of them was sentenced o a period of two
years in Jall,

l'bid., oy 28, po 2
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9The men beaten had had no connection with the incident but we re
rut in the ctOCfade while awelting trial for stealing rice

from the mess halls to make sake. It 1s very probable that

the "political prlaoners” in the stockade resented the presence
of thesa “ecommon thleves,”




"I had another hearing just about two months before 1 was
released., That was by Internal Security. Their attitude was
rather one of appealing to me. They didn't ask me much. They
asked me about the incident. They said would 1 behave in camp
1f I was released? I said, 'Yes, I will behave.' They just
asked me a few things like that."

FATAL SHOOTING OF SOICHI OKAMOTO

On Thursday the 24th of May this period of comparative
quiet was abruptly ended by the shooting of a Japanese by one
of the military police sentries. Soichi Okamoto, employed in
the construction section drove from the project to get lumber
which was to be used in construction work and was shot when Ie
returned to the project through the old main entrance. The
shooting was witnessed by 15 Japanese and one member of the WRA
appointed personnel. Since the records of the Coroner's Inquest
and the Court Martial are not available, the most rellable

account of what took place rests on the statement prepared

from eye-witness accounts by a committee of eight issel segregees

at the request of the Spanish Consul who, in turn, was complying
with a request of the Japanese government,

On the morning of May 24, the Center was calm and undis-
turbed. Then, at approximately 2:20 p.m., May 24, 1944, the
shooting occurred. The victim, Shoichil James Okamoto, was
30 years old, had been born in Garden Grove, California and
had never been abroad. In the Center, he was a truck driver,
properly licensed and assigned to the construction crew.

Olmmoto was driving Truck #100-41 at the order of the
construction supervisor Yamane to get lumber piled across the
highway from the old main gate, which is called Gate #4. He
carried all necessary identification papers and badges and
was qualified as a truck driver permitted to pass into the
restricted area. In his truck, a swamper neamed Henry Shiohama
WAS/Fodd /Ag#L/EB/¥ of 1819-F accompanied Okamoto on this assign-
ment; he likewise was provided with all necessary identification
to go outside the perimeter.gate. The witnesses, besides
Shiohama who rode next to Okamoto, included eleven boys from

1R. Hankey, Notes, June 16, pp. 1-2.




"I had another hearing just about two months before I was
released, That was by Internal Security., Their attitude was
rather one of appealing to me. They didn't ask me much. They
asked me about the incident, They said would I behave in camp
if I was relensed? I saild, 'Yba‘ I will behave.,! They just
asked me a few things like that, "l

FATAL SHOOTING OF SOICHI OKAMOTO

On Thursday the 24th of May this period of comparative
quiet was abruptly ended by the shooting of a Japsnese by one
of the military police sentries, 5Soichi Okamoto, employed in
the construction section drove from the project to get lumber
which was to be used in constructlon work and was shot when l®
returmed to the project through the o0ld main entrance. The
shooting was witnessed by 15 Japanese and one member of the WRA
appointed personnel. 8Since the records of the Coroner's Inquest
and the Court Martial are not availsble, the moat reliable
acecount of what took place resta on the statement prepared
from eye-witness accounts by a committee of cight lssel segregees
at the request of the Spanlsh Consul who, in turn, was complyling
with a request of the Japaness government,

On the morning of May 24, tha Center was calm and undis-
turbed. Then, at ui*rnximatel* :20 p.m,, May 24, 1944, the
shooting occurred. The victinm, Shoichi James Okamoto, was
30 years old, had been born in’ Garden Grove, California and
had never been abroad. In the Center, he was a truck driver,
properly licensed and assigned %o the construction crew.

Okamoto was driving Truck #100-41 at the order of the
construction supervisor Yamane to get lumber piled across the
highway from the old main gate, which 1s called Gate #4. He
carried all necessary identification papers and badges and

was qualified as a truct;ﬁriver prermitted to pass into the
rostriscted aren, his truck, a swamper nareq Henry Shiohama
wn¢/rp¢¢/n¢x¢/gﬁ/g of 1819-F accompanied Okamoto on %his assign-
ments he likewise was provided with all necessary identification
to go outside the perimeter.gate, The witnesses, besides
Shiohama who rode next to Okamoto, included eleven boys from

1R. Hankey, Notes, June 16, pp. l=2.
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the heavy cquipment crew who were walting for an Army escort

o go out to the cinder pit, This crew had three trucks parked
in a semi-circular form, close the Gate #4 (see Diagram).
Okamoto and Shiohama, on Truck #100-41, were permitted to pass
out the gate and the fatal shootlng occurred when they were
returning via the same gate.

According to Shlohama, the new sentry had just come on
duty. Word has 1t that the new sentry was in a dlsagreeabls
mood and was known as one of the tougher sentries, The two
on the truck went over the 1line a bit, The sentry, on Okamoto's
slde of the truclk, could sce Shiohama's badge, bul could not
at first ses Okamoto's because of the high sidedoor of the
truck, and because of the sentry's short stature, 1t is= claimed
that the badge was on Okamoto's facket, as was necessary. The
sentry asked to see the badge in a dlsagreeable fashion,
Okamoto showed the passz, was allowesd through, and returned with
his truck and swamper in e few minutes. On the way back, his
truck drove up close to the hesvy equipment crew's truclks,
There were 11 boys on the oguipment erew, the trucks in a
semi-clrcle form, standing near the gate with fallows on the
running boards, fenders, and around the wvehiclez, It is saild
thet the sentry made remerics to them. The most usual phrase
which was repeated in tho center waz, "Whet the hell are you
Tapa doing--waliing to climb the hill%" At this jJuncture,
Okamoto was driving in towards the gate and the sentry's
attention was focused bansk uron him., While he had been waved
through the gate o fow mlnutes before, he was now cersmoniously
halted, It 1ls claimed Okamoto sald words to the effect of,
"Well, here's the pass." Perhaps this soundeé cocky to the
alreoady lrritated gmard, The sentry ordered him off the truck
end commanded Shiohama to drive, Without a driver's license

be h ttor explained, he could not drive a truck. The sentry,
1t 1s said, was infurlated at this delay, [From then on,
commands were well pep,ered with curses, This took time and
raised tenslon all around. To Shiohama'z answer the guard is
sald %o have replied, "You Japs and your WRA friends are trying
to run the whole camp." He then turned back to Okamoto, who,
1t 1s said, if he had contempla ted any attack on the guard would
have had plenty of time during the exehange with Shichsna,
(here verslons dwell on the fact that Shichama was a swemper
and could not, therefore, drive the truck, 2long with explana-
tions that Olamoto would never have been fool enough to attack
an armed sentry, and was not further, that sort of a person),
Heavy oquipment boys, not many feet away, were talking among
themeelves of the sentry's apgressive end insulting manner,
and some desplte the tension--were saying, "They're not all
like that", "Thie one has it ir for 'Japs', etc.," OQkarioto

was apparently apprehonsive by this time, Whon ordered out of
the truck he had done =co reluctantly and had left the trueck
door opened, At thls Juncture a Ford V-8, driven by Koy 8,
Campbell, a Caucaslan WRA steff, arrived fror ihe highway and
stopped with engine running, about 7 feet from the end of
Okamoto's truck.




According to Shiohama and other vitness, the sentry at
that time cocked his gun and went around via front to the other
side of the truck where Okamoto was standing. The sentry then
ordered Okamoto to the back of the truck, This would have been
just outslde the gate. Okamoto started but hesitated for an
instant., At this point, speculate on the guards motives, with
true concentration-cemp psychology, the suspicion is that the
guard wished to shoot him cutside the gate. (Shot while try-
ing to escape)., Okemoto's hesitation 1s explained by this
point, In the moment of hesitation, in which moat say no pipes
were 1lit and ro words sald, the sentry struck OUkamoto sideways
on the right shoulder with a rifle-butt. Ukamoto raised hils
right arm and moved his body slightly back to ward off any
further blows, While in this defensive positlion, the guard
steppred back one pace and from & distance of four or five feet
fired PALL without warning. In all accounts stemming from
eye-witnese testirony, the act waa locked upon as an unprovoked
attack, Okamoto fell with what seemed to have Deen a close~
range ctomack wound, HResldents speculated on the possihbility
of the sentry having 'been overseas, having been shell-shocked,
or being mentally below par, 1t is said, in the center, that
Shiohama cortainly must have been cool-neaded about the affalr
since ho sumuroned an ambulance in less than one minute. At
any rate, tho account whlch he and hls co-workers gave as signed
tostimony to the Folice lepartment in interviews with all eye~-
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yitnessos on the scene ahoritly thereefior is sald to be faotual

and loglcal. <Zhe story of all eye~witnesses, despite already

distorted newspaper verslons, such as in ithe S, F, Examlner
that the one Caucaslian, Roy Campbell, eye-witness account,
probably ifits the plclure drawn for them.

The heavy equipment crew was thunderstruck, %“he sontry
cursed, seomcd nervous, and 1t 1s said, swung the rifle in
their general directlon. Nore curaing - "You people get the
hell out of here" -« and they fled, Shiohama trying to get
the hospital on tho phone. 4another crew cf [ive stumbling on
the scene were ordered back by the sentry. The ambulance
arrived. The Police Department interviewcd the evacuee eye-
witnesses and the member of tne WRA stafl who had driven up
behind Truck 1LJJ-4; and who had acen most of the altercation
from his care

Ihe sontry, named Goe, repubted Dy gossip to be a Chinese,
a Hindu or an dawerican indlan, was placed undsr arrest and an
Investigation Board was appointed by Lt. Col. Austin.

Okamoto was nhospitalized as soon as possible. According
to soms eye-witnesses, tno sentry would not allow any of the

Japanese present to take the truclk to call a doctor and a

Lieport of the Investigation Committee on the Shoichi Okamoto
Incident, July 3, 1644, ppe 2=4.




Japanese PYE4dY ran to eall an ambulance on foot. The Com-
mlttee's account contlnues;

"How long a time elapsed before he was hospitalized is
not known; same say 20 minutes, According to the attending
physiclan and gurgeon, svery posslble mouns of treatment was
administeres, od

An operation was performed by Dr, Hashiba, assisted by
the Chlef Medical Officer, Dr. Sleaths Two blood transfusions
were adminlstered. Okemoto died the next day May 25, at 12:10 am,
The results of the autopsy performed were describ
dozctors at thn.anuC:t:

"In the right cheat area was this hole which was about
one centimeter in diameter gn: thls was 2 flesh wound that
connected to the men's insi « There wore some large rents
that had been torn uhxﬁl*z Lo man's liver and hie stomach
had been shattercd &2 that when it was first qren at the
qgﬂ*gti,n, 1t was nos sible To recognize the pleceg as &

} and side of
the body as 1 astated befn ad had ! int al contents
pushed out through the cavity s0 1t w! Llc zing ocut and
draped on the outeide of hls body, and this particular material
was covered wlth *:i ky contents, a portlon of which we recoge
nized as spaghottl,®
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atomach, The portion of hls liver *n the 1c
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IMMEDIATE EFFECT F THE SHOOTING ON THE COILONISTS

e lmmediato reaction of the .onlsts was shock. This
was closely fcllowed by an understandable reluctance to pass
tarough the scatry guarded gates on the part of those whose
WOrK regquired that they do so. MNany ovacuees did not come to
work on Frlday mornlng and Ckamobto's fellow workers, the
coustructlion crevi, 2eld a meoting and decided not tc come at
all, Mdany meectlngs were held in the colony, Hostility towarmd
thie soldiers who, in the days lmmedlately after the shooting

continued to come in%to the colony and at the Co~-op stores




ACTIV

grew rapldly 5 81§ {f a soldier's uniform was an offense
to the

1TY OF THE ADMINISTRATIO

The night of lMay 24, no women teachers were allowed to
enter the colony to hold their nigh school clusses.l Tthis
prohiblition, however, was withdrawn the next day., Wr, Best,
extrecely frightened, followed the excellent asdvice given him
by the members of his staff. Lhe primery objective of the

Aninistration appeare to have been an effort to keep the

LT R
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for the tragedy from falling on the WVRA, An immediate
announcenent was prepared to be read in the mess halle at the

noon meal on Friday, May 25. Dr. Opler asked the writer's

bl &

opinion as to whether thls amnnouncement might not tle the

s

shooting too closely to WRA %

The annowcerent issued in .ths name of Mr, Best followss

"I rogret very much that one of the center rosidents was
shot yesterday ;f"twnc“" Yy a militery police sentry and that
he dled at the center hespltal carly thle morning. Everything
was done by the medical staff at the hospital to save his life
and a great many peopls stood ready to glve tlalr blood, An
investigation 4is being made by the nilitary and proper dlseci-
plinary action wlil follow. The VWA wags in no way responsible
for the shiocoting, and I want you gll to know that we regret
that 1t happened, No f'..‘:‘t.m statement can be made at this
time pending Investigation by ihe Joard, but as soon as the
facts are uwvellable they will Le given 'Lo the residents 4in

full detalil,"®

iie sawme alternoon lMr. Best, ilr, Dlack, and ¥r, Robertson
called on tle bereaved lamlly., Okamoto was survived by his
wldewed mother, an older brother and two younger brothers and

two sistera, On the appearance of the Caucaslana, the entire

;_'r{. Hankey, Hotes, May 24, pe le

“ibid., May 25, pe 1.

Sieport of the Investigation Committee on the Shoichi Ckamoto
incident, July 3, 1944, p. 8,




family 1s zald to have broken Adowvn completels .1 Several other
J J

members of the WRA personnel, in particular teachers who had

Okamoto's younger brotlers or aisters in their classes also

glled on the family. One Caucasian who had Just lost his own
son called, taking a picture of hia dead son with him, Okamoto's
mother kissed the plecture and draggod out her Sholehil's clothes
to show the visitor'.2

Mr, Best aleo placed two antomobiles at the disposal of

4= Yy

the famlly and 2 apeclal car was sent to Heart Mountain to bring
relatives to the funeral, Employment compensation papers were
lmnediatoly fileAd.

The colonietsa' fear of pasning the rentries at the gate
was also promptly denlt with by statloning both Caucasian and
Japanose members of the WRA police department at the gates,
Three days after the shooting the attltude of the sentries had
changed remarkably, They no longer shouted and bullled evacuees
passing through the gatea because of splaced badges, nor

in svidence, n the afterncon of May 27,

they romained within the sentry bo This policy had an immedi-
ate calmlng effeoct. Af wy were assured adequate protection,
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ihe reazctlon inform 1y lmrediately after the
news of Okamoto's ds h wan announced varied from controlled

but deeply felt anger to almost hysterical rage. Some people
g, Hankey, Notes, lay 205, P« 4.
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advised their friends and neighbors to keep cool until the

true facts were announced. After all, sald they, Okamoto might
have been at fault. A statement released by Secretary Ickes

on the morning of May 25 (?) which absolved Okamoto from blame,
created some satlsfaction but was also regarded as proof that
the soldier would be considered guillty.

R R e L L ppp————————

Insert statement here if it can be procured.,

K. an older niseili and World War veteran was so moved that
when discussing the occurrance with the writer he almost broke
down, On May 25, after the announcement had been made in the
mess halls he saild:

"I heard quite a lot of criticism about 1t, but one thing
surprises mes the people are very calm. There is quite a lot
of resentment, but they are not exclted. The people are saying,
'Let's be cool and know more about it before we take any action.
We must not make any rash judgment until we know the facts
completely.' The colony itself is taking it calmly,

"You might find hot heads may start to agitate. But we
must be fair. MNr, Best is not responsible.

"We had an announcement here at noon in English and
Japanese, As I say, they were very calm, The Japanese could
take it., They'll take it more than any other race.

"From the information that has been gathered, of course,
I don't know 1t 1021:3 as 1f the soldier used too rash judgment
in using his gun."

A young nisei girl contacted at the same time also sald
that the people were pretty calm but that they were talking
a great deal and had had a meeting that morning. "They do not
as yet know who was right, but think the soldier was too quidk

with his gun,"?

libid,, May 25, p. 2.
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"I"'s wife, a nisei saild:

"The people are angry about it, But we heard over the mdio
that Secretary Ickes said that it was the soldier's fault, that
he (the soldier) was going to hit him (Okamoto) on the head,

That made the people feel better.

"They were all angry around here but nobody knew what it
was all about. Some were saying, 'Well, ma bolha got fresh,'

But now even Secretary lckes blames the M, P,"

Another young nisel girl, a friend of the writer, was
almost in tears., She felt that the announcement made at the
mess hall sounded as if WRA were trying to avoid responsibility.

"It was Mr., Best's fault for bringing in the Military in
the first place., They're meeting in there (Civic Organization's
0ffice) now."

She also stated that she was convinced that even 1f the
soldier were convicted he would be freed soon after, She had
heard that the soldier who did the shooting at Topaz was seen
stationed at Gila the next year. "Don't you think the WRA
ought to give the man's family some compensation,” she added.

A young man told Mr., Robertson that the colony was going
to demand that Mr, Best resign. "How can they do that?" asked
Robertson, "Mr, Best had nothing to do with this.” "Well,"
replied the young man, "If it weren't for Mr, Best, the millitary
wouldn't be in control and this wouldn't have happenad."2

Late in the afternoon of May 25 Mr, Best called a brief
staff meeting. He stated that the incident was very regrettable
and that the staff was apt to be confronted with a situation
similar to that of November 4 when the newspapers had presented

distorted reports which took a long time to repress., "This

Tip14., p. 3.
21bid., p. 2
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might be the spark which would start another incident." He
reassured the staff that the absence of evacuees from their

jobs during the day had not been a strike; the people were
walting to be reassured that there was no danger in thelr coming
through the gates. Tomorrow members of the police force, both
Caucasian and Japanese were to be stationed at gate 3, Fatrol
cars were to move among the workers on the farms and a patrol
car was assigned to follow the garbage detail, He asked for

the co-operation of the staff and assured them that they would
be adequately protected.

He announced also that a Board of Inquiry had been appointed
by the military and that WRA headquarters had requested that
WRA be represented on this board by a member of 1its personnel.
Mr, Black was to fill this position., He closed with the state -
ment that it would be the policy of the Adminlstratlon to release
all information to the colony as soon as 1t was released by
the Military.

Mr, Markley, the reports officer, then read a statement
which warned the staff not to discuss the shooting, to refraln
from personal comment and to keep in mind that it "was the right
of '"these people' to express themselves as long as the expression
dld not result in violence."t

On leaving the meeting the following remark was overheard,

coming from one of the male staff members, "Proper disciplinary
action will be taken, Huh! They're convicting the boy before

l4bid., ppe 5-6.
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he's heard." Mr. Best was also criticized by some staff
members "for telling them nothing,"

As for the meeting of the Board of Inquiry which took
place the evening of May 25, no information was ever released

The evening of May 25 Dr, Opler expressed himself as very
pleased with the manner in which Best had so far handled the
difficult situation. Opler also stated that it was he who had
advised Best to give the Okamotos the two automobiles for their
use and to place WRA members of Internal Security at the gate,

"I'm just amazed at what Best 1s doing. After Ickes'
statement was reported to him, he sald he was darn glad that
it had been made. Yesterday Col. Austin was shouting over the
phone and acting the sunny face. Today he was serious after
he had heard Ickes' apeech,

"Best has really done himself proud. The Colonel gave in

on the WRA protection (at gates) question. . .The possible
International complications are bothering Best, . .

"The pattern of reaction as I see it 1g; (1) Revenge;
(2) The wish for protection and assistance."

I/ XS RARERE/ X/ iod KRR/ g / EBX A bk

The Coroner's Inquest also took place the evening of May 25.
When the declsion of the jury that the sentry had shot Okamoto
while in line of duty" was released in the newspapers the next
day, it caused a great deal of resentment, Many persons at
first considered it the final verdioct, confusing it with the
Court Martial. A copy of the Coroner's Inquest's decision,
taken from the report made to the Spanish Consul, follows:

MODOC COUNTY CORONER'S INQUEST

On May 25, 1944, from 7:30 p.m., Modoc County Coroner's
Inquest was held at the Base Hospital Operating Room.

Iibid., Pe 6e
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Tre jurors present were:

Charles Callednine Mras., Anne Jamison
Phil J. Fish Ro Re er

John 0'Shea Daniel M, Crawford
Mrg. R. C, Cox

District Attorney of Modoec County, California, Clarles
Lederer, conducted the hearing at the request of the Coroner,
Distrio£ Attorney by request of the Jurors opened the hearing
with the purpose of investigating the cause of death and the
persons responsible, if anyone concerned, questioned the wlt-
nesses.

Witnesses and Doctors

Henry Shiohama Joe J, Nishizaki
Charlie Antolku George Yamashita
Gen Hitomi Kanpo Ogawa

Tom Kadowakl Kazuto Matsumoto
Roy S, Campbell Sadao Yamane
Tsuglo Soga Masao Tokuyoshi
Giro Snow (Shinomoto) Masakl Nakamoto
Frank Amemiya Dr, Jack Sleath
Ben Watanabe Dr, George Hashiba

The copy of the Coroner's Inquest record is hereto appended,

Charles Lederer made the follow statement: For the
purpose of record, I would like to state that as District
Attorney of Modoc County, State of California, I have asked
the name of the guard at tle gate who actually shot the
decedent, but Aue to Army Regulations 1 cannot produce 1t.

Verdict of Jurors

After some deliberation the Jury returned the following
verdict:

"In the matter of inquest upon the body of Shicho
(Shoichi) Okamoto, before John C. Sharp, Coroner, we, the
undersigned jury summoned to appear before John C. Sharp,
Coroner of the County of Modoc, in the State o California
at Newell, California, on the 26th day of May, 1944, to inquire
into the death of Shicho (Shoichi) Okamoto, have been sworn
and charged according to the law and have made such inquisi-
tion as regards the decedent, amd have adduced upon our
authority, and for all to see, that we find that the decedent
was named Shicho (Shoichi) Okamoto, and that he came to his
death on the 25th day of May, 1944, at Newell, California,
by a member of the United States Armed Forces while in the
line of dlﬂ:‘y.

Signed this 26th day of May, 1944.
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W. Loudon, Foreman Phil J, Fish Mrs, E, C, Cox
Charles Callendine John O'Shea Mrs, Anne Jamison
R, R. Baker Daniel M, Crawford

On May 26 the Newell Star released an account of the shoot-

ing, a statement by Mr, Best and a statement by Okamoto's
elder brotle r:

OKAMOTO DIES FROM GUNSHOT WOUND INFLICTED BY SENTRY
Returning Worker Shot at Main Gate

Shoichi James Okamoto, 30, of 3002-A dled at the base
hospital early this morning as a result of a gunshot wound,
He had been shot by a military police sentry at the old main
entrance to the project,

Lieutenant Colonel Verne Austin ordered the sentry placed
under arrest and appointed a Board of Investigation. These
steps were taken by the military who are sclely responsible
for the investigation of the facts in the case.

The victim of the shooting was employed in the construction
section and had been driving a truck, He drove out through
this gate to get lumber which was to be delivered to the construc-
tion job, and was returning to the center at the time. On the
truck with him was one worker, a witness to the shooting, and
others were near who have cooperated with the police in giving
full statements of the clroumstances.

BEST'S STATEMENT

Mr, Best made a statement this morning which was read at
all of the mess halls in the center. The statement follows:

"I regret very much that one of the center residents was
shot yesterday afternoon by a military police sentry and that
he dled at the center hospital early this morning. Everythirg
was done by the medical staff at the hospital to save his 1i®
and a great many people stood ready to give their blood.

Investigation 1s being conducted by the military and
proper disciplinary action will follow, The WRA was in no way
responsible for the shooting, anmd I want you all to know that
we regret that it happemned. No further statement can be made
at this time pending the investigation by the board, but as
soon as facts are avallable they will be given to the residents
in full detail."

At the same time Mr., Best expressed sympathy to the
bereaved members of the family and offered to make available
to them any facilities of the WRA,
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The shooting happened at approximately 2:20 p.m. on
Wednesday, according to the official reports at the Internal
Security office. As soon as the first report was received an
ambulance was ordered to the scene and lMr, Okamoto remowed to
the center hospltal. Every effort was made to save his life,
and no one was permitted to question him about the circumstamces
because o the danger of sapping hils strength,

Two blood transfusions were necessary before the operation
could be performed. The operation was done by Dr, G. Hashiba,
who vas assisted by Dr, Jack Sleath, chief medical officer of
the WRA, Captain Edwards of the military medical staff was
also present as were two other evacuee doctors at the hospital,

BROTHER ASKS UNBIASE. INVESTIGATION, JUSTICE: NO UNDUE DISTUR -
ANCE IN CENTER

The victim of the shooting is survived by his grief-stricken
mother, Sekiyo, an older brother, Koichi, and two younger brothers
and two sisters who were at his bedside at tho time of death
shortly after midnight at 12:10 a.m. Another brother and sister
are still in the Heart Nountain center and a sister is in the
Gila center.

The older brother std ed that hs wanted a complete and
unblased investigation of the clrcumstances surrounding the
shooting and full justice meted, although he hoped that there
would be no undue disturbance within the center over ths affair.,

EVACUEE ATTITUIES E XPRESSED MAY 27 and 28.

Compiling attitudes during this perlod was a difficult
and delicate task., Flve contacts were attempted. One man, K.,
found the subject too palnful to discuss, However, at three
homes, family members and friends were present and it was
possible to note a considerable number of opinions and reactions.
"Y" a kibel was contacted in the presence of his kibeil
wife and a kibei male friend, ™" stressed that WRA'S 'attempt
to avold responsibllity' was having a very bad effect on the
people. "They think if WRA's not responsible that's bad. Who

is responsible?" He stated that he had a good deal of business

to transact in the Administrative Quarters but he was not going
to risk going through the gates. His wife remarked that the




sight of soldiers patrolling the camp with machine guns was
offensive. Neither "Y" nor his wife anticipated that the people
would make any demonstration. "What can we do?" said "Y",,
bitterly, "We're only Japs. "All we can do is take it," "Y"
added that he had heard that only a few days ago an issei had
been hit on the head by a soldier when going out of gate 3,
He had not understood English and had not obeyed some order
made by the soldier.l

At a large famlly group visited on May 28, the shooting
was dlscussed at length. Nveryone present agreed that the
soldiers should stay out of camp. Everytime the people see
them they feel worse. Trouble might occur, the men agreed, but
"everything would depend on the verdict." "If the soldier was
acquitted," sald a young kibel, "the best thing WRA could do
to avold trouble would be to tear down the fence. ©Then trouble
might not start, It would be all right to have the military
at the main gate, but at the other gates - ho," Those present
were indignant about some of the accounts which had appeared
in the newspapers, "Some papers sald that Okamoto had tried
ju-jitsu on the soldler.” One young man present asked the
writer if she thought it possible that the soldier might be
given a heavy sentence and then sent some place else and
released, Vhen told that this was a difficult question to
answer he asked another, "If the soldler were given a haavy
sentence and sent away to serve a light one, would the soldiers
here at Tule Lake know about that or would they think he had

received the heavy sontelnma?"2

11b1d0. n‘y 28. De 1l.
aibid.. p. 4.
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"I", a nisel frlend of long standing had no hesitation
about speaking of the shooting or of its effect upon the people.
His reaction to the nervous strain was quite American, He
made several cynical humorous remarks at which all present
laughed immoderately.

"Best has called a center-wlide holiday on the day of the
funeral, (A half-holiday was actually called.) They are also
going to have a wake at the high-school., That's & dern good
1dea, It would be more or less ironical to give th fellow a
military burial - being as he's & repatriat and a No-No,

"A lot of how this goes 1s go to depend on how WRA
handles it between now and the time the verdict is released.
If WRA can prove to the people that they are sincere in their
belief that the man who was shot was of no fault, and that they
did their best to get Justice, then things might quiet down,
But if they exonerate the man completely, there's going to be
a blow-off, They'll have to build a double fence around the
Administration section.

"The smartest thing WRA could do is to start impressing
the people now that the Military 1s more concerned than WRA,
After all, the man was a soldler, Under these conditions it
comes under the jurisdiction of the War Department,

"hen the announcement was made in our mess everybody
took it as & matter of course. Knowlng the Military of Japan,
they know how 1t was. The local and clvilian authorlties haw
to step into the background,

"Tre smartest thing to do would be to give the man twenty
years and send him to jail. Send him to jall anyway and pardon
him after three or four yeara,

"After all, he (Okamoto) was unarmed. If I were the sentry
end had two rifles and automatic pistols I wouldn't shoot him,
I'd bat him on the head with the rifle.

On Mr, Best's visit to the Okamoto family and his decision
to grat permission for a public funeral, "I" said:

He's learned a lot, He had to. He's more sensible with
the people now. The Japanese people are appreclative of that,
especially when it's an order glven by the Project Director.
It will mean more than any 500 or 600 words he can say,

, "On the other hand, there are people who talk like this;
'Well, we can't expect justice from the Army here inasrmuch as
we are disloyal Japs and thelr enemlies, If that's the case




and the man is exlionerated, all we can do is learn hils name
and remember it until after the war and see which side wins,'
They want to bring it up at the peace conference.

"Another faction says: 'You won't hear anymore about
this until after the war.' DBy that time they hope the people
will have forgotten about it. Fersonally, I think if they
drag it out and hope people will forget, I think there will
be a lot less ruckus if they just come right out with it, even if he &
exonerated,

"You look at it this way. This is what affects people
now, If that can happen and the man is exonerated, that will
give the M, P,'s the impression that the lives of the Japs in
here are not worth a hell of a lot, That's just asking for more
shooting., Heck, I might walk through that gate next morning
and the guy will take a shot at me, I'm dead. Tmt's not
going to help we any.

"I feel this way., He's gone. I can’'t bring him back to
life.

"I heard that Austin had sent a special car td Heart Moun-
tain to bring his relatives in for the funeral. That's the
least they could do,

"It all depends on what the verdict is.

"'he newspaper stories try to give the impression that
the man misinterpreted the sentry's orders.

"There's one thing they're goin$ to have to look out for,
J

What will Japan do about this? They're liable to figure tat
ten Americans are worth one Jap, Pretty soon each side will
be seeing who can kill them (prisoners or internees) off faster."
As I left "I"'s home he remarked that the 1id might blow
off the camp 1n two hours., If that happened the safest place
for lir, Robertson, Mr, Hayward and myself, the only Qaucasians
who "I" thought worth worrying about, would be inside the colony,
at a Japanese friend's home ,
Another niseil, "M", about 28 years old, was far more
excited than "I"., "M"™ was at this time employed oﬁ Dr. Opler's
staff and had been busily gathering eye-witness accounts of the

shooting. From these accounts he had prepared a report which

lipid., May 27, pp. 3-6.




306,

he entitled, "Murder at Tule Lake." He also stressed the peoples'
"hostility to the uniform." ™Everytime they see a soldier
driving through camp in thelr armored cars 1t makes their blood
boil," He was convinced that if the soldler were not punished
promptly and Justly, the results "would be terrible." 4According
to data "M" had gathered, the sentry, Goe, had been rude to
evacuees passing through the gate for some time. The Japanese
had commented on the difference between his attitude and that

of the sentry who preceded him and had ccme to the conclusion
that Goe "had it in for the Japs," On one occasion (it was
sald) he had shouted at an issel because the man had his badge
on the wrong side of his jacket, The 1ssei, not understandirg,
had attempted to pass, whereupon Goe had hit him on the back

of the head with the butt of his plstol. "M" had prepared an
account of the shooting from eye-wiltnes:z reports which he allowed
the writer to read, The gist of 1t is presented here from
memory. <+he chief significance of this account is that it is
probably the version which was spread through camp and believed
by the majorlty of the colonists, It will be noted that it
agrees substantlally with the statement given to the Spanish
Consul by the Investigating Committee.

"When Ckamoto approached the gate, driving the truck, the
sentry waved at him., Okamoto interpreted this as a signal to
stope The soldler then approached him, cursed at him and ordered
him to get out of tlke truck, Okamoto got out of the truck
reluctantly., The soldier then ordered him to walk outside the
fence. Okamotc did so hesitantly and the soldier made as if
to strike him with the butt of his rifie., Okamoto raised his
arms and the soldler shot him in the stomach at the range of
three feet, Okamoto screamed and fell to the ground writhing
and clutching his stomach, The soldier reloaded his rifle and
lighted & cigarette. The other Japanese present looked on

amazed. Then the soldler sald, "Get the hell out of here or
I'11 shoot you too.," <he men ran to the hospital to get the




ambulance. While they were gone another truck (a lumber truck)
drew up to the gate. 5Seeing that the man on the ground was a
Japanese one of tk® men in this truck attempted to get out.
The sﬁ%dier shouted at him, "Get back! Get the hell out of
here.

Comment

From the above statements 1t may be implied that a consid-
erable proportion of the colonists were of the opinion that
serious trouble might arise almost instently, particularly if
the soldier were exonerated. "It all depends on the verdict,"
was a general conclusion. Somes criticized the WRA's cbvious
attempt to evade all reaponaiblllty,'while "I", always practicsl,
praised this administrative move as good policy. In spite of
the fact that personnsl from the lInternal Securlty had been
stationed at the gates, several informants stoted that they
were going to keep away from gates, since, as they exbressed
i1t, "If WRA is not responsible for us, what's to keep the sentrys
from shooting us down too?" An understandable hostility to
the soldiers, aggravated by their continued appearance inside
the fence, was expressed by most people. Moreover, the sus-
picion that the sentry would be given a sentence which he would
not be forced to serve, appeared to be fairly common. If "I"'s
account of attitudes i1s reliable, as the writer believes it
to be, some of the colonists were already predicting two days
after ukamoto's death and that the soldier would be acquitted
that the Army would not release this informetion until such a
time as feelinc had died down in camp. Consequently, the only
recourse of the colonists would be to wait until after the war

to obtain jJustice.

lipid., pp. 1-2.




. ATTITULES OF THE CAUCASIAN FERSONNEL

Many of the members of the agpointed personnel were almce t
as angry and disturbed than the Japanese. The detalls of the -
shooting, particul rly the fact that Ckamotc had been shot
down at a range of three feet were repeated with exclamations
of horror and disgust. From lr, Best down, the majority of
the staff members appeared to be deeply moved and gincerely
regretful. Only a few remarked that Okamoto may have been
impudent to the sentry. Many of the teachers who had to pass
through the gate on theilr way to school expressed a hostility
to the soldiers very similar to that of the evacuses., The only
genuinely inconslderate remark overheard was made by a not too
well balanced sgtaff member employed in the hospitel. She
stated:

"ihen Okamoto was brought in the Japanes¢ standing around
wore just praying for him to die and don't kid yourself." When
another person present expressed sympathy for the soldlers, the
same informant sald: "Don't glve them any sympathy. They had
all mads up thelr minds that 1f this fellow is found guilty,
they'd all start shooting up a few Japs. Then they (the
military authorities) couldn't do anything to the whole cOmpany."l

When a week passed with no sign of uprising from the colony
the majority of the staff relaxed considerably and after the
funeral 1little tension was apparent,

Mr. Best was reported toc be in a very anxious 1f not
terrified state of mind. # weeck after the shooting the writer

was told by well-informed friends that Mr, Best had come %o

libid., June 1, p. 2.




the decislion that her presence on the project could be detri-
mental to the Administration and that 1t would be best for her
to leave. The writer immedlately contacted Mr., Best, and was
advised by him "to stay out of the colony for a while until
things blow over." Lither because this advice was followed,
or, more probably, because no disturbing incident occurred, the
matter was dropped and the writer was not expelled., 1t 1s
possible that a contributary factor to this state of appre-
hension which gripped the responsible members of the Administra-
tion was the susplcion or the knowledge that the Army intended
to white-wash the affair, On May 27, Mr. Robertson asked the
writer, "What do you think would happen if the Army white-

washed the whole thing and did not release the verdict for

months? Tk same evening Lr., Opler remarked that "WRA office

was trying like hell to keep the Army from whitewashing the shoot-

11’18."1

DIVISIONAL FESPONSIBIE MEN ATTEMPT TO FORM WORKERS' ORGANIZATION

A few days after the shooting a very interesting attempt
to reenter the political scene was made by the supposedly dis-
banded Divisional Responsible Men. This group had led in
breaking the status quo in “ecember and Janusry, uLx-Co-ordi-
nating Committee members took the leading part in this activity,
in fact, K, Okamoto, an ex-member, was chairman of the meeting.
The group conceived the idea of forming a workers' organization
"for the protection and security of the workers." The proposed

body was purported to be entirely unpolitical in character.
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The divisional workers themselves were not consulted. Plans
were made amd a commlttee appointed to interview Mr, Best by
the Divisional Responsible men only. The minutes of the first
meeting, which was held May 26, follow:

A speclal meeting of the Divisional Responsible Men of the
Tule Lake Center was held on May 26, 1944, at 1608, from 1:32 p.m.
K, Okamoto, ex-Co-ordinating Committee and Supervisor of the
Congtruction DPivision presided.

The Chalrman addressed the body and stated that the special
meeting was called for the purpose of discugsing futwre preven-
tive or precautionary measures to avold the recurrence of an
incident similar or diverse in nature to the one in which James
Okamoto was a victim, as well as take steps in assisting in
any way posasible with the dieposition of the case.

The Chairman called on Mr. Henry Shiohama, an eye-witness
of the incident, who then read his statement of the detalled
account of the incldent as he saw 1t. Many questions were
asked of and thereupon answered by him. Some were as follows:

1. Wase the guard dlsagrecable? (ans,) Yeas,

2, How long was the guard ststioned there? (Ans.) I
don't know, only that, in the morning, a different
guard was stationed there.

Vhen the sentry gave the signal, was the truck outside
of the fence? (Ans.) Yes. Howaver the actual shooting
took place inslde of the gate.

When the sentry made the statement, "Don't get fresh.
You and your WRA fflends are trying to run the whole
camp,”™ were you in the truck$ Ans.) Yes, This sermtry
made the statement and came around to Okamoto's side,
Was the sentry an American or a Mexican? (Ans,) He

had a dark complexion, was short, and not too tall.

I econldn't tell.

Was Cempbell of the Constructlon who came in a V-8
glose enough to your truck to hear the conversation?
(Ans,) He was right in back of our truck., So the dis-
tance was near encugh to hear the conversation.

U1d the Heavy Equipment boys hear the conversation?
(Ans.) I helieve so. Some of the boys were standing

on the bumper.

Mr. Kondo then reported that he, on behalf of the Construc-
tlion, and Mr, Nishimoto of the Motor Pool had consulted the
FrojJect Uirector requestling a guaranty of safety to all those
passing the Gatos hereafter to which Mr, Best replied thh t a
'guaranty'! may not be possible, however, utmost effort will
be exerted towerd the insurance of safety. Hereafter workers
going out to the farm and Garbage crew going out of the Gate
may notify the Internal Security for extra protection. Mr. Kondo
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also mentioned that he had suggested the institution of the
Colonial Police force at the gate to which it was informed that
Mr. Schmidt is studying the matter of placing the force about
20 or 30 feet from the Gate to prevent future disruptions.
However, Mr, Dondo regretted, since the scope of negotiation

i8 limited within .the bounds of the Construction and Motor

rool Divisions only, weight of negotiation is not as strong

as may otherwise be if a body of representatives from all
divisions supported.

B. Akitsukl then mentioned how much the Administrative
Personnel's visit to the bereaved family had contributed toward
the feelings of the colonists.

Upon question of the Chairmen as to whether any divisions
had undergone a work stoppage because of the incident, no case
of substantial importance was reported. Having maintenance of
peace in the Center as our object, even a2ll allusion of such
an sction should be given discouragement,

Mr. Yamatani then brought up by way of reference how he
had advised and forewarned Lt. Collins the very mornling of the
incident to change the abusive and disagreeabls attitude of
the M.P.'a toward those paesing the Gats, octherwlse, such
matters, however little and small in nature, may be a spark
from which ancther incident may trenspire. In view of the
present incident and in view of the la” ck of a central represen-
tative body, Mr, Yamatenl pointed out the pressing need for a
workers' organization for the protection and securlity of the
workers. B, Akitsukl then questioned whether the organization
of such a group would affect the establishment of am conflict
#ith the functions of the contemplated Representative Committee.
To this question, some opinioned that the body would strictly
be a workers'! organization, dealing only with matters effecting
the welfare and interests of the workers, it ghould virtually
rnot affect or conflict with the Commitiee, Nr., Kawamura thought
that the body should merely be a temporary one, elastic in 1ts
structure, and subject to dis=zoluticn at any tlme when its
existence, dirsctly or indirectly, impedes the bringing about
of the organigetion of the Committee., Nr, Shimada sugzested
that the body should be in existence until the formation of
the Committee. oSome even opinioned that the organization
of this body should be withheld until the respective responsible
men have first consulted the divisional workers. However, the
general consensus of opinion was that even a temporary group
to denl with the immsdiately pending problems, such as insur-
ance of safety when passing through the Gates, be formed.

Then, future plans for a workers' group may be discussed and
decided upon later, subsequent to the Administration's approval
or rejection,

Thereupon the followins persons were solacted on a temporary
committee:




1, George Yametani 6, Hideo Sakuma 11. Joe Nakeo
2. Alzo Takahashl 7. Shiro Kawamura 12, Ted Nishimoto
3, Kumaharu Okemoto 8, Chodo Okutake 13, Sadae Yamane
4, Richard Kondo 9, Iwao Namekawa 14, Harry lkemoto
5, Mesac Shimada 10, Sage Muraoka 15, S, Salto

16, Byron Akitsukil

in order to present the following recommendations:

1. Insurance of security when passing through all Gates.

o, Elimination of either the pasa or the badme, 2nd the
institution of either onhe.

3, Selection of agreeable M.P,'s ags ettendante et the Gates.

Block 30 Manager Kawaoka was introduced to the group.
He reported in detalls the progress made in the preparations
for the approved center-wide funeral for James Okamoto by the
Ward Chairmen of Block Managers, Vard Chairmen have taken
the initiative to make preparations and arrangements for the
funeral. From the Ward Chairmen and Block Managers, a Funeral
Committee will be formed, it was informed., TUnon tha beody's
approval (Divisional Responsible Hen), lr., Keawaoka then reques ted
for representations from the divisions to serve on this Funeml
Committee. The body present declded that the Construction and
Motor Pool divisions should select several persons to serve
on this Committee, Other divisions will assist in any possible
way, even though representetion 18 not made. Nr, Kawaoke then
announced that the wake service will be held in the High School
Auditorium and the funeral at the outdoor stage.

When the committee appointed at this mecting interviewed Mr, Best
he chose to regerd their project as prolitical in nature and
refused them permission to form such a body if they expected

1t to be recognized by the Administration. Toward informal
workers' representative bodies he hed no objection. From the
minates of this interview it ie epparent thaet Mr, Best had
finally realized the unvopularity of the members of the Co-
ordinating Committee and the Divisional Resnonsible Men, stating
that their attempt to form even a temporary body might divide

the colony again., Considering the temper of the people at

this timg his refusal to grant recognition was wise, The

mimites state that "as a whole, the recommendations (of the

Divisional Responsible Men) were accepted and put into practice,




such as the stationing of the Colonial Police at the entrance

of the Gate." This suggestion, it should be noted, did not

originate with the Divisional Responsible Men, but was put
into practice the day after the shootlng on the recommendation
of the Construction Crew Workers wlth the support of several
members of the Administration,

INFORMAL MEETING OF THE REPRESENTATIVES OF THE

DIVISIONAL FESPONSIBIE MEN AND THE PROJECT DIRECTOR
of the
Tule Lake Center

Times 11:00 a.m. Date: May 30, 1944 Place: Project
Director's Office

B, Axitsuki, on behalf of the Divisional Responsible Men,
presented the recommendations of the body to the Project Direc tor,
although he had previously submitted & memorandum enumerating
the various recommendations made by the group at its meeting
held on May 26, 1044, As a vlhole, the recommnendations were
accepted and put into practice, such as the stationing of the
Colonial Police at the entrance of tha Cate. He further stated
that the body felt the prese<ing need for an organization repm -
sonted by varlous Adlvisions anc sectlons for the purpose of
mainteining future protectlon and security of the workers,
subsequent to the recent incident in which Jawes Okamoto was
a victim,

¥r, Best expressed great distress over the incident and
atated that as our respoct toc the man who passed away, tribute
must be pald purely on a religlous and personal basis in which
politice should be wholly uninveolved. He further mentioned
that an eatabliahment of a temporary body composed of responsible
mon of wvarious dlvislons and gections may tend to divide the
Colony agnin. He felt that another trouble, presumably caused
by thias recent incldent, will not recur; that ia, he hopes it
will not, If it should, it will be one in which people will
Yo agalnst the Adminlatraticn and in such an event, the people
are the only ones who are going tc suffer, If in the future,
at any tire, any incldent of any nature occurs from which
trouble starts, we might Just as well wash cur hands and have
the Army talke over the camp," lr, Besi commented.

The program under way to establlish s Representative
Committee to disseminate information and to talk and counsel
wlth brought no response from the Colony becauss there were
some groups which disliked the Administration and groups which
dlsliked the Divisional Responsible Men, the Project Lirector




informed, 4s o whole, Mr, Best felt that 1t was ilnadvisable

to form such a body (committee) at the present time, Mr, Black
pointed out that in view of the non-acceptance of the Adminis-
tration's invitation to proceed with the formation of the
Repreczentative Committee, setting up of a temporary committee,
which will not be authoriged by Vashington, will stall off the
time when we can bring about the reqguired Representative Com-
mittee which Vashington has already approved.

Upon B. Akitsukl's statement that the unificatlon of the
workers is urgent in order to prevent any trouble and to main-
tain order amcng workers, inasmuch as they are the backbone
cf the Colony, Mr. Dest stated that there i1z no reason why
the workers cannot organige as workers to represent thelr
varfous activitles and to present statements and recommendatlons,
but as an Administration, such a body cannot be officially
recognized. ilecognltlion of such a body would tend to split
and upset the Colony and the esbtablishment of a true lepresen-
tatlve Committee. ILcwever, if a Heprosentatlve Committee
selected on a geogrephical basis were established, varlous
committees such as Commlitee on Vorks, Coumltiee on School,
Committee on Playground, etc., may be rformed from the main
Committee to surmount and gope wlth any difficultles which
may arise in the various fields; for example, the Commlttee
on Vorks might take up matters concerning the welfare and
interests of tle workers, In this way, partiality will be
avolded and every person will have a part In thls Commlttee.

Moeting adjourned at 11:;30 a.m,

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Byron Alitsukl

iAttendance: R, R. Best, Project Director
E. L. Black, Assistant Project Director

Kumaharu Okamouo

Richard kKondo

A1zo Takahashi

Byron Akitsul:l

Considering the dlelliks and suspiclon with which Yamatani,

Al tsukl, Olamoto and Takahashi were regardsd by most colonists
at this time, it is difficult to understand how they dared
risk placing themsslves in any positlon of public prominence,

't is possible, of course, that they were not consclous of the

cxtent of their unpopularity, or if they were, that lhey




considered the opinions of the ordinary colonists of little
consequence, This group and the prominont officers of the
Co-operative Enterprises have been described by Caucasians and
Japanese who know them well as feeling themselves superlor

to the "pest of the dumb Japs". Ferhaps they looked upon

thelr unsavory reputations as the inevitable result of their
prOminence. {o/\.’ € 4 nq

In any case, the group was injured and angry at Mr, Best's
refusal, Mlass I described their indignation:

"Because of this shooting they wanted to make some sort
of a labor organization to prutec* the workers. MUdr, Bost
sald he was really distressed over the incident but pollitics
should not be involved in the funeorg; it should be & purely

. religious mattor, purely a matter of paying tribute to the
deceased.

"Mr, Shimada, Mr, Yamatani, and MNr, dkitsukl say, "No
matter how hard we work and how much we try to do for the
people we are always called inu. =o e might as well leave
the plaee alone and let it Lurn up."l

In reference to the attitude of the people she quoted a
saying in Japanese which 1s simllar to the English expression,
"They bilte the hand that feeds them,"

THE OKAMOTO FUMERAL

The arrangements for Sholchi Okamoto's funersl wers under-
taken br the ward chalrmen, A funeral commlttee of blook
managers and ropresentatives of the Conatructlon and Motor
Pool Adepartment handled the details. The entlre center contri-
buted to the funeral expenses, a certaln part of which, as 1s
usual, were born by WVRA, A wake service was held in the high

school on May 30, the evening preceding the funeral and some

livid., June 15, ppe 1, 4e




%03,

1,200 peoplo arc sald ¢o have attended,

The day of tho funeral, May 31, was unpleasantly cold and

a drizzling rain foll Intermittently. %he funeral was held on
tho outdoor stage., 7The report made to the Spanish Consul
states that $,000 persons attended, but lr. Robertson estimated
thoe number as nearer 4,000 <Yhe aduinistration wished some
photographs of the occasion vutl was dublous as to uow this
might be received Ly the people. Mr, Hucyke was given the
task Lecause liw was thought to De well known in the colony.
The photographs were ivaken without incident, Had the Adminis-
tration known how very unpopular wr. lucyke was in the colony
tliey would have lLiad go0d causc for conceln,

Mr, Best and other high ranking members of the appointed
personnel atlended. Mr., Best had not wished to attend the
funeral and had suggested Lnat Mr. Black or kr., Robertson
deliver the speech which had been prepared by Mr, Spicer,
However, Lils subordinates {inally prevailed upon him to go.
From Splcel''s Ooriginal draf'l Mr. Best omitted the words,

1

"a justi and wlse doclsion will be made." ine description of

tlk funeral and the text of Mr, Best's speech as reported in
toe lowell Star Zollows:

RESIIEUTS PAY SULELN TRILUR AT FLNAL RIIES PR OKAMOTV
Cutdoor Funeral Atlended Ly 9000

line thousand pecple siood barchneaded for hours in a ohill
wind and a drizgle of raln Vednesday afternoon to pay lasting
tribute to e mewory of Sholchi James Vkamoto, martyred
victim of a shooting which Secretary of Interior Harold L. Ickes
termed "completely unwarranted and without provocation on the
part of the vietim,"

Iiv14., June 4, p. 2.
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Thousands ceme from all perts of the center, in spite of
the cold dlscomfort, to stand with bowed heads in tribute to
the deceased., At the same time they werc expressing a protest
against the hate and lntolerance engendered by this war. Men
and women, young and old, mothers with bables in their arms,
thus offered sympathy to the bereaved family, Lvery person
present was moved Dy sorrow.

Mr. Asamitsu Olutake was the chairmen for the service.
Mr, Iwao Namekawa gave a graphic testimonial on the history o
the late Sholchl Okamoto, an account of the making a true
Japanese who had had the best € 1life still before him, Words
of condolénce on behalf of the center residents was given by
Mr, Kazunml Eawaoka.,

in deep silence broken by the wind, the Rev, Senzc Sasaki
conducted the final rites assgisted by all other Buddhist revee -
ends in the cenber. Inconse offerings were made by various
organizations, departrents, and ward representatives,

ME SSAGE

Project Dirsctor Ray R. Best extended a memorisl address
in behall of the Administratlon, e said, "I wish to express
regret that this unha?py ovent has occurred, I have already
asgsured the young man's faally on benall of the Administretion
hat all in our power wlll be done to assist them in their
hour of grief,

"The community 1s to be commended for the help that 1t
has given the bereaved famlly and for the public expression
of sympathy, Ti» apirit shown during the past few days glves
me confldence that we have learned to live under the difficult
and complex condltlons that prevail in this conter,"

REACTIONS T0 MR, BEST'S SPRLCH AND THE FUNERAL

-

Undoubtedly Yr. Beat's specch which he delivered with
sinCers and honest feeling was a gesture of ¢xtreme slgnifi-

cange in dissipating resentment toward the "RA., Tone fact thset
B S

the project director appeared in person, making a speech which

hapoily £it Into the colonist's concepl of good taste, impreassed
eome persons deeplys Less emotional individuals pralsed it as

a first rate politlical gesture. Enomies of iir, Best or persons
wio bore him a grudge of long standing were not lmpressed but
they were nol able to affect the general good effect materially,

mmedlately after the speecn, Best received a number of letters
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of appresiation, one of which, according to Dr. Opler, was
"just gooey with compliments,”l The Algnified funeral, the
presence of high ranking members of the appointed perscnnel
end the raspect shown the deceased by granting the half holi-
dey were 82180 ap-reclated,

Ths day after the funeral two nisel girles gave 2 glowinpg
account of the funeral, %At least 5,000 peopla wers there;
¥Mr, Bast made n spesch and the flowers were wonderfunl, ., It
went off very well,™ The second girl remarlked, "He was lucky
to have such a nice funeral,” and then stopped in ombarrassment,
Tha first girl then adde?, "It 1s going to be bad though if
tha soldler 1s acquitted, The people ars Just walting %o haar.“2

X. was deeply impres

"I felt happy that he came and made that talk. Not to
do 1t would have made the people suspiclous, I felt very good
about 1t, Undoubtedly he created a better fecling by coming
than by staying away.

"The Japanese peoOpls thought sure he would send lNr, Black
or Mr. Robertson and that Jir, Best woull n't come. They were
surprised, He has regalned some confidence, Coming in and
speaking showed courage,

"I've heard that the boy (Okamoto) was = very gocd boy,
Many tlmes as he wae golng In and out of the gate he noticed
the boye with him makins ssroastlic remarks. He sxpressed his
opinion in this way: he told the boys not to be sercastio,

Tha soldisrs were on Quty snd were performing the duty as they
were told. 'If you continue to antagonigze the soldiers,' he
sald, 'somathing mey happen,! Then he had toc get it himself,

"Somotimes T wonder if there's a God in ths world,

"It's a reflection on the Unlted States Army, The Military

Police should be the model for the Arry., EHers they are acting,
how should I say, rather rudely,"d

livig., June 2, p. 1.
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"¥®, a kibei, was not irpressed by Mr, Best's gesture.
He impliec that many people, especlally the issel, understood
"why Mr, Best had made such a fine speech."”

"He's good now, but think what happened last time (farm
accident)., He's learned. . .Now he has confidence in their
behaving peacefully.

"I was glad the light (public address system) didn't go
offs Last time he spoke it did go off and he felt very bad.

At the same interview X asked if it were true that Robertson
was golng to be project director. 4e also remarked, "IT them
15 Lrouble, + won'y mindes 1I'll get a kick out ol watching 1,1

“1%, while scorning to De moved by Mr, Best's gesture,
praised i1is clevernesss;

"I will bhave to give o lan oredit, lle really has done
his best., I didn't go to the funeral myself. PBut he attended
Lo funeral aid called the hadi hollday. Heading the speech,
it didn't seem much different than the notloce he sent to the
moss hedls, I thought it was a4 darn good idea as far as he
was concerned, If that wasime 1full text of tle speech I think
he's pretiy swart. e sald just enough, no more, He didn't
lay it on too thicks

"He's more popular now than he has been since tle begin-
ning of Us camp.

"Regardless of why he did it, the fact stands that he did
do 1t. That's what you have to give the man credit for, I
couldn't all nave been prompted through seliisnness. 4+ don't
believe & man ywho wrote timi speech could be entirely selfish,
llo could Lave staycd ay home and let one of hls stooges come
downe"

"I" di1d not now believe that the shootine would now cause
trouble in canp. Yet he still stressed the importance of the
verdict., "All the goon squad members are resting peacefully
in the stockade, If the verdict is bad, things may change,"
He also renmarkec upon the change of attltude of the sentries

0t the gate:

1 == Y o
lbido, PPe :-" e
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"We've got some nice boys at the zate now, There used
to be some guys who'd make you step out, drive the truck Ehrough
the gate and then get beek in. They're pretty gzood now,"

"0", a conservative individual admired the speech dbut
was not moved by it:

le (Mr, Best) was thinking of the futuwe of the center,
particularly of the safety and security, I sald to myself,
'He's quite a diplomat,' He made a very intelligent speech,
If he had made the wrong %ind of speoach, it would have meant
more trouble, He chose his words very carefully."

Speaking of this period at a later day O seld:;

"There was unrest, particularly among the young boys,
They were cuite excited. But there was nothing they could
do, 4 They start trouble, something will happen, 1 lnow
lots of people had pond sxpericnce 4n the last incident, They
don't want any more trouble, If they start trouble, the same
thing will lmppen, "<

"U" an ex-Santa Fe internees ond o =trong =uppo
the "Q" pressure group was most eynical shout the Administra-
tion's poliey Auring the funeral:

"As you know, the rhooting tock place in zuch a manner
that it was liable to cause almost any kind of trouble with
grave consequence, But with the e perience of the past, resi-
donte of thls center kept themselves very quiet, knowing them-
selves how serious a matter it was. The Administration has
done a Vvery marvelous way of taking the matlier very cautiously,
trying to calm the feelings of the residents.

“The question of sincerencss and sympathy to the family,
in my opinion, on the part ~f the Administration is doubtful,
But they have worked 4in a vepry vary wiase way to prevent some
incldent which might cocur, Leaving the funeral to be a camp
funeral was done very excellently and thet I appreciate and
admire., The Administratlon was wise 1in persuading the resi-
dents to perform the public funeral, That was ons of the
reasons which should be considered lmportant in calming down
the feelings of the people. Mr, Best was very wise in making
the funeral so big. It made people feel very good, with the
expense of the resigdents,

“If this was a public funernl, which the Adminlstration
sincerely recognized 1t, it should have paid part of iie
funeral expense from the government or the Administration.

{E.J?_;__Q .3 JIID‘J 20 » pp - l ’ 2 .
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“The committee who represented the funeral wns more or
less pulled in as tools of Mr, Best. If I had been a man on
that responsible committee to perform the funeral 1 would
certalnly have discussed the matter with Mr, Best, so at least
a certain part of the funersl would have been pald by the
Administration., This time they pald exactly the same amount
as for any other funeral, $173.00.

".nough for the coffin," interjected his wife .l

The following letter written by "0" on June 5 is an
interesting, 1f involved expression of public sentiment. 1In
complicated pnrases, "O" expresses the confusion of the more

thougutful colonists over general "'RA policy -and particularly

on tne lmportant point of which body, "RA or the Army, was
responsible for thelr protection. In keeping with all other
infarmm ts at thls tlme, he remarks that "the colony 13 eagerly
waltineg wilh great expectatlion for the officlal announcement

of the truth."

Ganerally speaking, the attitude and sentiment of the
colony toward shooting incldent le very uiet and does no
make sharp and strong criticlsm 1n compariscn to the last
year's lncident. 1t seemaz to give me a hint Lzat on account
of the past experlenced troublesome periocd, the colonists are
acting much more senslbly and observing the presseni exlsting
condition with the eyes of great interest.

As far as Ic an observe the present exlsiting public senti-
ment, i ncpe lhat probably thers will Ve no public dieturbance
or see the ellghtsat tendancy of trouble and pressure group.
liowever, 1t appears to m@® that the colonists have received
conslderable shock and a tendancy of great anger toward thought-
less cruel barbarlc iln-humun being attltude of the military
police.

Other day we held the regular werd meeting and a Bloeck
lianager brought up the sincere liope of reguest by the people,
conserning lnhuman attitude cf the military police toward the
recent tragic Zincident that herealter, the w.r.a. would gurantee
and take proper measuremsnt and caution for ocur safty and security
eapeclally employees of the center, ‘e do not want to repeat
the traglc history. 1If these gragics ocoure in any event, it
will ve UThe most dlisastrous thing to see and vill greatly
aifect the public welfare and affairs in the future of the
conver. Gl understanding, the mutual cooperation and

1ibid., June 14, p. 1.




for the future of ths genter we rmst prevent and take safty
measur from now on to promote public welfare and the harmonious
way of living.

S4nne November'sa incident, it appears t0 me the genoral
policy of the center has been very rmuch complicated and changed
on the rart of the adminisntration. To the best of my knowledge,
we seem to have two authorities, w.r.a. and the army. This will
induce us into contradiction of our minds to understand the
policy and the settlement of A4lfficult problems wlith the authori-
ties. According to the atatement of the Prolct DUiractor,

Mr, Best stated that w.r.a. will not be responsible for the
shooting. In this ease, the colony naturally thinic the army
will take the fulles®t measurment for responsibllity ~f shooting.

e understand that segregees in thls center are glven the
fullest protection and v.r.a. enforces the lawvse in order to
maintaine the public in order and peace according to their
rejulations and that the army will protect our enfty and
security with the fullest cooperation of w.,r.a. <The mpoat
aignificant point which always 1s miscomprehiended =nd contra-
diect our minds 18 wvhether the army has authority or not within
the barbed wire fence 1s the public curlousity toward the
administration of w.r.a. From time to time, L hear the people
gayine that the army hes no aunthority within the bharbed wire
fence whatever, and w,.r.a, has the fullest power to control
the entire center, The people fael the army 1s suprposed not
to stay 1in the boundary of w.r.a. This sounds very reasonable
but we do not know what degree 1z the truth,

Tule Lake Center 18 known ss the segresaticn carmp and in
comparison t0 the other nine Relocatlon Centers, the state of
this center might entirely be different on administration
poliey of the w.r.a. On account of this the center might need
the combined authorities over the administration. The colony
sincerely hope that either one of them must take responsibility,
ntherwire wa will have no autheority %o conform snd to protect
our safety and security.

With the moast prudent attitnds and the greateat interest,
the colony ie ohservins the progrenes of ths present affalrs
and thnse false comrunication and broadecasting over radio
deeply degrade the publie rnorale and axtremely irritate the
public sentiment and anger. As the nost typicel characterlistic
of the Orient races, especially, Japanesas has 2 great tendency
toward excitement, irritation and jJudge things sentimentally.
iIn consideration of thease facts I sincerely hopes that the
authority take thorough stepes fa the investigation and the
Jjustice will be done for a better eolution, Alsns T have confi-
dence that the colony is eagerly walting with great expectation
for the nfficlal anncuncerment of the truthl

m—byetaal Libei sty¥la tho—wunitesol e 9beve—tetter
heas hinted-at—meny—important-attlitiudes which have been more
frankly stated by other informarts,
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Agitation after Funeral

The Administration's policy in regard to the Okamoto
shooting was flawlese, Neverthelesss, certain persons began
agitating immediately after the funerel. Who these persons

3

were or what thelr plans comprised has never been revealed
by the writer's informant. It 4s the writer's opinion that
the loader in thisz movement was a publicity sesker, who had
not entered the camp until the sprine of 1944, Whather he
srked with the "Q" pressure croup iz not ¥nown, Had the

writer not enjoyed the confldence of an extremely honeat and
frank informent aven this meager information would not have
baen satrered. Ths Administration at this time knew nothing
of this particular ettempt to use the Okarmoto Shootine as an
incentive to trouble, although they may have suspected the
1eader vazuely 2 n "agltator, It 18 ¥Xnown that the leader

made a specific thre: of what wonuld be done if the vaerdict

wae unfavorable. When the soldier was eventually exonerated

by the Court Wartlal, more than a month after the funeral, this

threat was not carrisd out asnd it's maker was reputed to have
loat coneldershbla face.

Mr, Best's Attitude - June 4

Once the ordesl of the fneral speach wasz nver and the
complimentary and pgreteful letter: from some evacuses were
received, Mr, Best lost much of the anxlety which had haunted
him since the shonting. He told the writer that he had decid d
t> allow the Okamotn family to read the report of the Coroner's
Inguest szo that they might see for themselves the testimony

shilch had pesulted 1n the verdiet that the soldier had shot




"in line of duty." Mr, Best remarked that the chief Japanese
witnese had bDecore badly confused at the trial and had given
conflicting and confused testimony, Mr, Beat invited the
famlly to hils office toc read the report and stated that he
would let them study it all day if they cared to, He had bheen
much impressed Dy the character and intelligence of the Okamoto
family and felt that it was largely due to thelr attitude and
the voluntary stubement made by Okamobto's Lrother that agltation
had been held to a minlmun, e reallzed, however, that a Court
Martlal verdict of acquittal might cause serious trouble in
caup, MHr, Dest also remarked at thils interview that his
hardest problem in Tule lake was his staff, They gave him
more trouble than all the Japsanese put together,

the members of the appointed staff were leaning
to the oplnlon that the soldler would e acquitted. This

attltude was strengthened b, a young woman employee in the

Statiatlice Sectlon who spread the astory that she had sent the
Court uartial acqulttal verdlcet to Washington. Since the
Court Martilal had not yet been held, thig was obviously false,
“he young woman may have seen a report on the Beoard of Inquiry
meeting of Kay 20, Iliowever, her story carried welight with

many staff mewmbers and caused much goncern over what the

Japanese might do when this "news" reached them.l

Mhat effect allowing the famlly to read the report of the
Corconer's Inqusat had 1s not known. However, sither from this
report or from cther Japanese witnesses, a rumecr spread in the

camip and almost resulled in the beating of the Japanose witness




whose testimony had been unfavorable to Okamoto., This rumor
which appeared in mid-June stated that this witness had testi-
fled that Okamoto had attempted to strike the soldier, A
group of young men met and discussed beating up the witness,
These self appointed vigilantes, however, were not themselves
convinced of the truth of the rumor., The wife of one young
man sald, "They cannot believe that a Japanese would do such
a thing."l The young witness was not beaten.

Early in June an intoxicated evacuee, said to be a quiet
good-natured fellow when sober, attacked a soldier with a meat
cleaver, 7The soldler was generally reputed to be a decent
fellow and the act was quite unprovoked. The soldier was not
injured seriously and the attacker was given a jall sentence,
No informant expressed any resentment over this incident
although "I" feared that it might stirmulate a camp-wide search
for sake stills which might annoy the people.2 (The evacuee
was rumored to have become intoxlcated on 'hoot-leg sake.")

No such search was made at this time.
COMMITTEE ORGANIZED ON REQUEST OF SPANISH EMBASSY

Early in June the Spanish kmbassy requested the Administra-
tion that a committee of Tule Lake representative residents
prepare a complete report on the Okamoto shooting which report,
1t was understood, would be used by the Spanish Consul in his
report to the Japanese government. The Consul's request was
announced at a meeting by Mr, Black, The colonists' reactions

were mixed. Most persons were indifferent, bélieving that

liptd,, June 19, pp. 1-2.
24bid., June 9, p. 1.




nothing much would come of it. However, members of the pressure
group propesed-eemmi were definitely hostile to the suggestion,
suspecting that this proposed committee might be used by the
Administration as evidence that a "representative" committee

dld exist at Tule Lake, an eventuality which the pressure

group, still stalwartly supporting the interned Negotiating
Committee, wished to avoid at all costs. The fact that the
proposal was announced by & member of the Administration added
fuel to this suspicion.

A meeting was held June 12 and committee member elected
from each ward, Some block meetings were held previous to this
date. The reaction to one was observed., While calling at "I"'s
home, "I"'s sister came 1h and asked him if he were going to
the meeting. "No," I replied, "I don't go to any of those
meetings,"t

On June 14, "Y" who was not a member of the pressure group,

related that Mr. Black had suggested the formation of a group

of i1ssei to comply with the request of the Spanish Consul. Ib
implied that sinm the suggestion had come from the Administret ion
the people were looking askance at the whole thing., He saild
there was & rumor that the ex-members of the Co-ordinating
Committee were taking a prominent part in the formation of the
committee, and that people feared it might turn out to be an
extension of the Co-ordinating Committee.® On June 19, Mrs. "Q¥,
an active agltator voiced the same sentiment, She said that

the people were very angry "at the Administration's move to

1
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put a selected group on the Committee to see the Spanish Consul,"
They blamed Mr, Black for this.l 0br, Opler corroborated this
suspicion and clarified the part of the ex~Coordinating Com-
mittee members:

"The committee to meet the Spanish Consul has been set
up from the wards, The trouble is they have set up a sub-
commlittee and very prominent on the list are the names, Yamatani,
Akitsukl, and Okamoto., I don't like those guys on it. It
looks as 1f Akltsukl 1s sticking out his neck again.

"The Spanish Consul wants to meet with a ago]aaman group.
Maybe he's a little afraild for his own safety.”

Better informed and less pre judiced Japanese, like "K",
took a more reasonable view of the matter and stated that the
committee had been formed of responsible and trustworthy men.
"K" gave an amusing description of how the ex-Coordinating
Committee member's attempt to regain prominence had been received
at the meeting:

"Yamatani, Akitsuki, and Okamoto were told right to thelr
faces that the people didn't want them. . .Mr. Yamatani proposed
before a certain body that if they would consent to allow him
to negotiate with the Spanish Consul, he would do it gladly.

He was told right then. . .

"They (ex-Coordinating Committee members) are conscious o
what is going on, but they are looking for personal glory. They
may want to tell the Japanese government that they represented
Tule Lake and met the Spanish Consul to right the wrongs they
have already committed. . .

“The negotiations are to be conducted by men who are
already.elected. They are prominent people whom the people

nd
trmust,
lMrg, "F", an intelligent older nisel, also expressed her

confidence in the group which was selected. They had been
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elected and 1t was all right., She added, however, that the
men elected had taken the job unwillingly and that some of
them wanted to resign. "It i1s all because of the men in the
stockade. The camp will never be at peace until that is
settled,"

A few days later X stated that nobody was taking the
Spanish Consul Committee very seriously. In fact, said he,
nobody trusted the Spanish Consul anymore, even though he was
supposed to look after the Japanese. "Everybody thinks the
Okamoto case 1s a washout. Since everybody is saying that
the chief Japanese witness said that Okamoto tried to attack
the soldler, there is no chance for a verdict of guilty.
After all, 1f Okamoto did attack the sentry, the sentry had
a right to shoot him,."2

"0", a conservative block manager either did not know of
the attempt of some of the ex-Co-ordinating Committee members
to get a prominent place on the Spanish Consul Committee or
he chose not to mention it. He also expressed the opinion
that the establishment of the Investigation Committee would
have a calming effect on the people.

"I attended this meeting. As you know, the Japanese
government has a great interest in this case. They have re-
quested the Spanish Consul to make a detailed report and he
has asked for a committee to make the detalled report to him,
So, since the members of the Co-ordinating Committee had
resigned, there were no representatives for the people. So,

since nobody had responsibility, they suggested that each
block send a spokesman who was a Japanese national.

"Then, June 4th (?) we had an election. Some blocks
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elected a man and some blocks just send an observer to the
meeting. All were Japanese nationals, mostly issei,

"Then they elected officers, president, etc. This com-
mittee 18 Just temporary and they decided to disband after
the completlon of the investigation. Some of the people
suggested at the meeting that they might remain as permanent
apanese spokesmen for the people, but I believe in the
present situation, they hesitate to elect permanent delegates.

"They named eight men for the committee. There were no
Co-ordinating Committee members on that, This committee was
recognized officially by the approval of Mr. Best,

"Lverybody is afraid of the future and they didn't want
it to be permanent,"

"It seems to me that very few people know about the
details of how this was done (Okamoto shooting). They can't
get the true facts. DBesldes they're afraid of the stockade.
It's no use to fight against the Administration. Everybody
Just keeps their mouth shut and quiet. . . .

"And besides that, the Investigating Committee has been
established and the people also believe WRA and the Army are
taking care of it.. The committee just started their investi-
gation last week."l

A very interesting account of the sentiment of a part
of the camp on this matter was given by "U", an ex-Santa Fe
internee from Manzanar and a strong supporter of the "Q"
pressure group. "U" is intelligent and well educated. The
opinions and suspicions he voiced were shared by the pressure
group, which was determined to have no body in Tule Lske which
could even vaguely replace the interned Nggotiating Committee -

[ oD
the "real representatives." It 1s [pnobebly that a considerable
number of the colonists shared a part of "U"'s views even
though they may not have been active members of the pressure

group. "Y"'s remarks give some evidence of this.<
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The fact that the Spanish Consul on his previous visits
to Tule Lake had glven the supporters of the Negotliating
Committee no assistance on the stockade lssue had caused this
group to lose confidence in him., The fact that a visit of
the Spanish Consul had never been followed by any noticeable
improvement in the lot of the inhabitants of Tule Lake, had
probably caused many non-status quo people to regard his
efforts with indifference., However, many people felt that
out of courtesy to their only contact with the Japanese govern-
ment, a committee should be formed.

"U" gives a detaliled description of the suspicion and
dislike with which the activities of the ex-Co-ordinating

Committee were regarded by th§ supporters of the stockade

internees and stresses the fundamental distrust felt toward
the suggestion because it was made by Mr, Black, a member of
the Administration, For the strong suspicion that the Adminis-
tration wished to trick the Japanese into forming a "representa-
tive body" out € this Investigating Committee, there appears
to be no evidence whatever. However, Mr. Black may have waited
until the body was elected to tell them that the Consul desired
only a written report, OUn the other hand, at the first meeting,
Mr, Black may not have been informed on the Consul's specifioc
wishes, The pique, felt over the fact that Captain Martin,
DeAmat's subordinate, was eventually sent to Tule Lake to
talk to the Committee, is interestling.

"People on the whole are very indifferent.

"I do feel this way, and after all the Japanese people are
not foolish and dumb, and I don't want to consider the Jam nese




race as dumb., They have to accept within a certain extent
being in the enclosure, but they can't be fooled all the
tlmeo

"I came here March 31, 1944, But I know that the Consul
De Amat was visiting here the latter part € 1943. One of the
requests made by the same group of people who were seriously
taking the responsibllity to liquidate the stockade - that
was the wish of most of the people in camp.

“Consul De Amat was requested strongly by the people
among with many other problems brought to the Consul at that
tine.

"Unfortunately, I don't know the reason, but the Consul
was not successful 1n meeting the wishes of the people in that
particular point, He left Tule Lake without settling the
stockade problem., In April of 1944 there was a reason on
the part of the Co-ordinating Committee that they wished to
conceal what they were dolng toward the stockade problem
and try to, in vain, promote themselves, their good name,
and regaln the confidence and popularity from the people of
the center and to be recognized publicly both by the colonists
and the Adminlstration and also to be known as the real representa-
tives of the Tule Lake Uenter, to the Japanese government if
possible, through the consulate at San Francisco,

"The Co-ordinating Committee, which was, as you know,
more or less appointed by the Administration in whom the public
had no trust whatever, dogmatically requested a visit of the
Consul again, Consul Amat -~ we suppose that he knew that the
Co-ordinating Committee wasn't a real representative body,
because he knew they weren't real representatives elected by
the people of the camp, ever since the stockade isolated
Place was opened by the Administration to confine what is known
as trouble makers of the camp for "sald to be" severance
purposes. 4And therefore, we supposed that Consul Amat knew
that we don't have real representatives here in this camp.

“He replied to the letter sent by the Co~ordinating Com-
mittee in April, 'I am not sure which one are the real repre sn-
tatives in the camp, Therefore please, if necessary, elect
representatives whereby I, the Consul, can interview them,"

"On May, 22, when Mr, Okamoto was ghot, at that time the
people of the camp wholeheartedly hoped for the immediate
visit of the Consul, On the following day of that happening,
the rumor in the camp was that the shooting of lr., Okamoto,
even though he was second generation caused immediate attention
of the Japanese government which requested the Spanish Embassy
to make a thorough investigation of the facts. We don't know
where we got that information but that was the rumor all over
camp. (Short wave radio?? R. H,)




"However, Mr, Black, with the assistance of the former
members of the Co-ordinating Commlttee called a special meeting
of all the block managers, 4And at that meeting the block
managers were requested to help in his own block to choose
representatives to receive an audience of the Consul upon
his arrival which was sald to be in the very mear future. And
also they were told that these particular representatives were
elected to make an investigation of the Okamoto shooting to be
reported to the consulate at San Frangisco.

The people were not told that this was to be a written

Report and that the Consul did not intend to come immediately.

"Each block manager came back to his block and made all
kinds of request to the people so that the people thought that
the Consul was coming in the very near future. Therefore, it
was courtesy on the part of the Japanese people to elect
representatives, which they did. But many blocks did not
vote .

"Some people resented to electing representatives. They
felt there might be some trick on the part of the Administration,
and by some members of the Co-ordinating Committee, who were
at that meeting without portfolio.

"A few days later, the representatives elected by the
bloclks met in a mass meeting and elected ward chairmen, The
ward chairmen elected the chairman of the whole group. And
the representatives discovered at that particular mee ting that
they had been elected with the simple aim of making a written
report to the Consul and that the Consul was not coming.

“Another thing -~ the principal aim of Mr. Black to call
such a special meeting of all the block managers was to form
the idea of the coming or visiting of the Consul to this center
or making of the written report of the center on the Okamoto
case, what the case may be. He used this opportunity as a
motive to try to form a representative body for the Japane se
which is needed so badly in this camp from the point of view
of the Administration. They wished to form it for all time.

"At this meeting 1t also was brought up by the chairman
and a few other members who might have had a good understanding
with the Administration or Kp. Black - they actually brought
up in the meeting that these representatives should continue,
not only in making the written report of the Okamoto case %o
the Consul but also as a real governing body of representatives
for the camp until such a time as some other representatives
were to be elected by the people.

"But by thies time not only the representatives but the
people as a whole knew and had found out that the Consul was
not coming, but instead, had asked for a report.
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"However, on account of a few representatives who actually
sald, 'The continuance of our existence after the finishing
of our report will be overruling the i1deas and principles by
which we were elected by the block residents. Therefore we
mist dlssolve as representatives as soon as we send out written
report to the Consul,' Which was so decided,"

The Investigating Committee presented it's report to the
Spanish Consul on July 13, 1944. Much of this report has been
reproduced in the section Just completed. Since other portions

may be used in the final draft, the complete copy is added

here,
Synthesis of Okamoto Shooting:

It would be most desirable to obtain at least a atenographic
copy of the Coroner's Inquest so that the evidence which led
the acquittal of the soldier, Goe, might be put before the
reader. This may be obtalned at a later date, since the Adminis-
tration has a copy.

The first reaction of the colony to the shooting of Okamoto
was a confusion of shock, anger, sorrow, and fear of passing
through the sentry guarded gates and maefing a like fate. For
several weeks after the occurrance even the sight of an Army
uniform was a source of irritation, This reaction was quickly
dealt with by the Administration which stationed Caucasian and
Japanese members of the WRA police force at the gates, prevailed
upon Colonel Auat{ﬁ%blaoe selected sentries at the gate and to
forbid soldiers to enter the camp as they previously had been
accustomed to do. About a month after the shooting, hostility
toward the soldiers was no longer voiced. On the whole the

reaction of the colonists was one of quiet and dignity. Part
of this contraint was no doubt due to respect for the dead.




Another factor was the consciousness of the futility of protest
by an unarmed people against the Army.

The Administration realized the gravity of the occurrance
instantly and embarked on a policy which was entirely successful
in avoiding additional trouble for themselves or for the colony.

The facts were announced honestly and promply; reasonable per

sons were glven no cause %o lay any gullt on WRA; kindness,
consideration and courtesy were shown the bereaved family,
which in no instance, passed the bounds of good taste; the
evacuees' fear of passing through the gates was given immediate
consideration; Mr. Best gave permission to hold a public
funeral, called a half-holiday on the day, and attended himself,
delivering an unmistakably sincere speech which impressed many
of the colonlats deeply; the soldiers were forbldden to enter
the colony proper after the funeral.
The Divisional Responsible Men, who formally disbanded
at the end of April 1944 made an attempt to re-instate them-
selves in a position of prominence by forming an organigation
to protect the workers of the project. Three ex-members of
the Co-ordinating Committee placed this proposition before
Mr, Best but were refused recognition, Although the proposed
body disavowed all political ambition, Mr. Best believed the
formation of this body would be interpreted as a political move.
The attempt of the pressure groups to lay blame on Mr, Best
and the unorganigzed criticisms voiced by Mr, Best's enemies
had 1ittle effect on the general populace; most people were
of the opinion that Mr., Best had all that could be expected




of him under the circumstances. Some criticlsm was heard

over WRA's attempt to evade responsibility, but this never
reached serious proportions. For several weeks after the shoot-
ing, many informants feared that trouble might be precipitated,
but no factor strong enough to bring about any demonstration
made 1ts appearance, During this period the most frequent
remark made by the Japanese was: "It all depends on the
verdict." Over a month passed before the Court Martial was
held, and as the weeks passed, this statement was made more

and more rarely. Frobably cynical opinions, such as those
which were volunteered as early as two days after the shooting:
that the soldier would be released or that he would be given

a sentence which he would not be obliged to serve, slowly gained
the ascendancy. The hopelessness of gaining redress from or
taking revenge upon the Army was apparent to all. Much is

expressed in the following terse statement made by a Japane se,

"What can we do? We're only Japs?" Uhen the verdict of
acquittal was released early in July, over a month after the
shooting, 1t caused little surprise and there were no reper-
cussions. It was, however, overshadowed by the excitement
aroused by the murder of Mr, Hitomi.

The request of the Spanish Embassy that an investigation
be made by a representative group of Japanese citizens and
that a report be prepared made very little impression on the
colony., The fact that the announcement was made through the
Administration and that certain ex-members of the Co-ordinating
Committee attempted unsuccessfully to attain prominent posi-

tions on the Investigatlon Committee aroused great suspicion




on the part of the chief pressure group. The greater proport ion
of the colonists, however, appear to have regarded the committee
and its report as harmless but futile. When the report was

glven to the Consul in mid-July it aroused scarcely any interest.

MINOR EVENYTS ALD ATTITULES OF oUNE, 1944

During June the unrest, discontent, and hatred which
culminated in the murder of Yaozo Hltoml, the general manager
of the Co-operative Enterprises developed in an interwoven
sequence of events which merits separate treatment. To inter-
rupt the narration of this development with socially significant
but unrelated details, would mar the picture and confuse the
reader, These unrelated events and attitudes will therefore
be presented first.,

Chalrmen Attempt to By-Pass Mr. Huycke

Early in June the ward chairmen made an attempt to
ascape from the need of dealing wilth Mr. Huycke, whose ineptitude
and insincerity in hils position as head of Community Activities
had long been a source of aggravation to most of the colonists
who had contact with him. MNr, Huycke's unpopularity, which
appears to have begun when he was in charge of housing at the
time when the transferees entered camp, remained with him when

he became head of the Community Activities Section. Most infor-

mants dlsliked him; many despised him, He was, moreover,

almost universally dlsliked by the Appointed Personnel, With
his immedlate auporior, mr, Black, he appeared to be on excel-
lent terms. Mr, Huycke strove to glve an impression of great
achlevement in providing recreation for the evacuees; but, in
actuality, he accomplished very little, %This, however, does

not entirely amount for his unpopularity. His habit of




promising much and doing little, his oily manner and insincerity,

and above all, the fact that he unsuccessfully attempted to
pose as an admirer of the Japanese, telling them that he was a
"Jap-lover" and not a "Jap-hater" were contributary causes.
The general scorn and disgust with which he was regarded by
most of the Japanese who came in contact with him, spread to
many who did not know him personally.

In this particular instance, the ward chairmen, noting
that little attention was pald to requests or complaints which
they made to mr. Huycke, decided that he was deliberately with-
holding them from mr. Best, ‘whey thereupon called on mr. Best
and requested that the Community Activities section be taken over
by Mr. Best personally. Mr. Best refused them, although he is
reported to have admitted that Mr. Huycke was slow in channeling
things to him but "he would do his best." An account by Miss
Iwohara, who developed a strong dislike to Mr, Huycke when
he was on the Advisory Council and she was Secretary to the
Co-ordinating Committee follows:

"The ward chairmen tried to get Mr, Huycke out. They
found out that most of the peoples' complaints which were
supposed to be channeled to Mr. Best were just going to Mr,
Huycke who bottlenecked them. So the ward chairmen thought
that Community Organizations ought to be put under direct super-
vision of the Project Director,

"So the ward chairmen got together one morning and called
on Mr, Huycke, MNr. Huycke sald Mr. Province had suggested the
same thing, but that Mr, Best had been against the idea because
he thought 1t would be disadvantageous.

"So the group of ward chairmen got together the next day
and got an interview wit. Mr, Best. VWhen they made this state-
ment to Mr, Best, Mr. Best sald that the plan of putting Community
Urganizations under the FProject Director had been devised by
himself, but when he sent the plan to Washington, Washington

did not approve. So now we know that Mr, Huycke was lying.
Mr. Best sald thare seemed to be a clash of personalities and




he admitted that Mr. Huycke was sloY in channeling things to
him but that he would do his best.,"

Several months later Mr. Huycke's Japanese staff rose in
revolt and almost left him in a body. At this time they
addressed an appeal to the Washington office. Mr, Huycke chose
to regard this phenomenon as the result of pressure put on his
staff by pro-Japanese groups.

Stockade Developments

Attitudes favoring the release of the men still kept in
the stockade continued to be expressed by persons who were not
attached to the pressure groups working actively for their

release., On June 15; a young nisei girl, stated that the

Laihyo Sha Kal had had a great deal of support in November and

added that the people were becoming more and more gﬁr’ over

the continued imprisonment and innocent people in the stockade.
She was sure that if Kai and Kuratoml were released they would
not attempt to make trouble. She was s0 moved when speaking of
the imprisoned men that her eyes filled with tears.® On June 20,
the conservative Mr, "0", who several months before had not
advocated release, made the following statement.

"Unless they release the men from the stockade I don't
think there 1s any hope to organige a Central Committee. . .

When asked how strong a part giri played in the peoples!
sentiment toward the internees, "O" said:

"Suppose those former Negotiating Committee in the stockade.
Suppose right now we elect another representative from each
block and organize & Central Committee. In that case we double-
cross them (the men in the stockade). We admit that they had
criminal intention, That means giri. That's why, for the
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benefit of them we cannot do it right now, unless the WRA
releases these men., That i1s the Japanese point of view right
now,

"I wish the WRA would release those men. When they tried
to organige the commiftea (in May) everything happened that
way because of giri,"

An interesting account of food trouble in the stockade was
given by "1I" who was in an excellent position to get information
since he was employed in a responsible position in the Mess
Operations:

"I got Hayward to crack down on the stockade boys the other
day. They thought they were going to run Mess Operations. They
wanted us to give them their ration dally instead of weekly.
I'11 be damned if 1'll weigh out 37 pounds of rice every day
and 4% pounds of sugar.

"Sugimoto, one of the public agitators number 1, sent a
letter to the Spanish Consul, telling him the boys in the
stockade were getting only 14¢ a day for food. I told Hayward
to tell Best that the stockade is getting food on the same scale
as the colony. If the Spanish Consul thinks that's not food
enough, have him comeé in and look at the books.

"Confidentially, 1've been giving those boys a break. I
knew their only pleasure was eating so I've even advanced them
sugar on their next week's ration. But not anymore. Since
Sugimoto started to make trouble, I've not advanced, and they've
been without sugar since Thursday and won't get any till
Tuesday, "

The above account 18 noteworthy since the hunger strike
which the internees initiated in august was rumored to have had
its source in a disagreement between the internees and the
Administration on food,

Indications of a Second Fressure Group and Conflict

Although data are very difficult to obtain, there are
indications that for several months two separate organized groups

had been working for the release of the stockade internees, One
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of these has been called the "Q" group. This group was
comparatively well organized and had among its members a
noticeable preponderance of persons from Jerome. The other
group appears to have been headed by Mr. Tsuda, an old Tule
Lake resident and ex-Laihyo Shag Kal member who was himself
imprisoned in the stockade for___ months., Tsuda is reported
to have worked hard for the release of the men remaining in
the stockade. He was hampered, however, by his unsavory repu-
tation - he 1s reputed to have run professional gambling joints
before evacuation - and by the growing suspicion that he was
collaborating with the Administration. The facts are not known,
How much of his unpopularity was due to deliberate gossip spread
by the "Q" group, who may have been jealous of his efforts to
obtaln release for which they themselves desired to be credited,
it 18 impossible to say. The first indication of this intrigue
was brought to the attentlon of the writer by a statement made
by Mrs. "Q":

"Now the boys in the stockade are getting mad at Mr., Tsuda.
When Mr, Tsuda came out of the stockade, they thought he would
be able to do something for them. But he hasn't been able to do
a thing. So they're getting mad at him now,"l

Less than a week later, Mrs. "Q" accused Tsuda of attempting
to persuade the boys in the stockade to withdraw their appeal
to the american Civil Liberties Union. In doing this, he was
supposed to be following the instructions of Mr, Best. One of
the internees followed his advice and wrote to his family to
withdraw his complaint to the American Civil Liberties Union.

Mrs, "Q"'s brother, however, refused and wrote to her, telling
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of Tsuda's attempt.l

Mr, Tsuda continued to be regarded as a
stooge of Mr, Best by the "Q" group and was looked upon with
suspicion by other individuals interested 1n the stockade develop-
ments. Mr. Robertson, however, held to the opinion that Tsuda
had always tried to do his best and that his evil reputation

was largely due to jealousy.

Birth of Georhe Kuratomi's child.

Another minor event connected with the stockade internees
was the birth of George Kuratomi's 1llegitimate child., The
mother was an attractive young woman named Singer Terada,

Mr . Kuratomi had repeatedly refused to marry her, For several
days before the delivery Miss Terada staged a "sit-down strike"
at the Internal Security Office stating that she would not leave
until George marrled her, The baby, a girl, was born late in
the afternoon of June 15. VWhen Mr. Robertson heard the news he
went to the stockade and asked the Police Guard to tell George.
The guard sald that it was not important, His reluctance to
marry Miss Terada later caused Mr. Kuratomi some inconvenience.

In order to flle papers for the habeas corpus sult which was

undertaken by the Amerilcan Civil Libertles Union, the lawyer
had to have a statement from George or from a close relative.
Probably because mall was not released from the stockade,
George could not get this statement to Mr, Besig. Since he
and Miss Terada were not married, she could not make the
application for him.

Rumors

. Two interesting rumors were current during June. The rumor




that an announcement of an exchange ship would be made conti-
nued and grew stronger. 1t was also widely rumored that the
Administration was planning to grant the colonists certain
privileges. The latter notion may have been stimulated by
the conslderation shown by the Adminlstration at the time of
the Okamoto shooting, Nothing came of either rumor,

On June 3, two nisel girls asked if there were any truth
in the rumor that an exchange ship was coming soon. 1ln the
weeks that followed the question was asked at almost every
contact the writer had with Japanese. On June 23, "Y" saild:

"I think the next transport might come the end of this
year or the beginning of the next. That would make the people
feel better,

His wife added:

"I bet the camp is going to be in an uproar if 1t does come."

"Y" concludeds

"It has to come, otherwlse the morfle is going down. The
Japanese government must realize that,"

The stimulating factors for this rumor are unknown. One
staff member stated that the Examiner had printed a statement
that Japan was making out another repatriation list asking for
college graduates and persons who owned property in Japan.

On June 8, "K" reported that rumors were flourishing that
the fence was going to be taken down some time in July and that
colonists would be allowed to make excursions to the nearby
hills, He had heard that the janitors would be allowed to go
out first; "thed names are even being put down." He stated
that even if only the janitors were allowed to go, the people
would feel better, "because then they would feel that someday
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maybe they could go too." "K" had considerable faith in these

rumors, and stated that they were already beginning to make the

people feel better.l

The writer checked these rumors with lMr, Robertson and was
told that the Administration was/ggzn remotely entertaining any
such ideas.

Attitudes on Mr. Best

On June 23 "Y" informed the writer that he had been told
by a friend that a group of young men had written to Mr, Ickes,
telling him that he should fire Best. "Y"'s informant had
stated that he himself had signed this letter., Whether this
communication was sponsored by a pressure group is not known.
Early in June another young man, like "Y" an ex-Leupp internee
remarked that he had heard that kr. Robertson had been demoted
because he did not get on with Mr. Best and because he got on
too well with the Japanese.® Mrs. "F" an older nisel woman
stated that she was sure that matters could never go well in
camp as long as Mr, Best remained in his position of Froject
Director. The people didn't trust him. Moreover, they knew
that he was afraid of them. "1If only Mr, Robertson could be
the Project Director, "™ Although more informants cannot be
quoted it was quite apparent that by the end of June Mr. Best
had almost completely lost the respect he had gained with some
people because of his considerate action at the time of the

Okamoto funeral.
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Status and the Pressure Groups

. Little 1s known of the activities of the pressure groups

during the month of June. The "Q" group went forward with its
preparatlions to appeal to the Civil Liberties Union for assist-
ance in the stockade matter. Undoubtedly, the group also did
all it could to increase the unpopularity of Mr, Best, whose
presence as Iroject Uirector was regarded as one of their chief
obstacles. %There were, however, few overt signs that this group
was active, The following remark was made on status by "U",

the ex-Santa Fe internee who was intimately associated with the
"Q" pressure group:

"If the Administration treated us as loyal Japanese, loyal
to Japan, they would have no trouble at all. But they still
think we are loyal to America. They should treat us like
prisoners of war in a certain sense, They should treat us accord-
ing to the Geneva convention and International Law. Our mind
1s clear now; we are disloyal.

Un the abortive attempt of the Divislional Responsible Men
to establish an organization, Mr. "U" said:

"If any little representative organigation or any little
gathering of people now having close approach to Mr, Best, they
are not hastening making the camp better, but they are prolong-
ing the trouble. They are petit politicians."

The Jam Agitator

An amusing example of the petty agitation which was carried
on by some exhibitionistic individuals was recounted by "I":

"There's a guy in mess 42 who is really a chest beating
agitator. He keeps demanding more jam for his mess, when he
knows damn well there's no more jam in the warehouse,., He
insists it's put on the menu. Then when the people don't get
their jam, he mades speeches telling them all he's trying to do
for them, "2
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Re PE RCUSSIONS OF THE ALLIED SUCCESSES IN EUROPE

. On the 21st of June kr. Markley, the Heports Officer called

the' writer aslde and asked her opinion of what the effect of tie
increasing success of the Allied Nations would be upon those of
the colonists who were still on the fence with regard to relo-
catlon, He explained that he had been moved to ask the question
because a number of the young people on his staff had resigned
recently. He wondered if this were due to parental pressure,
thelr parents not wishing them to appear to be too closely
connected with the Admlnistrative Staff when camp feeling might
be rising because of Axls reverses. If these resignations

took place it is more likely that they were due tb the bad repu-
tation which the Heports Uffice was developing since one of its
chief employees was Nr, Tateishi an inu of particularly odius
reputation. 1t 1s also possible that the question was put
because "RA authorities in Washington were considering the effect
of news of Axls defeats on the Tule Lake population and had
asked Markley to report on the matter.

However, one extremely interesting change of attitude was
manifested three days later by "I" one of the writer's oldest
acquaintances and frankest informants, "1", a No-No and a
repatrliate had expressed bitter resentment over the treatment
he, as a Japanese-imerican had received in this country since
the outbreak of the war. On one occasion in September, 1943,
before he was segregated from Gila, he had told the writer that
he hoped that Japan would win the war just so the Caucasians
would realize they weren't as good as they thought they were.
But after nine months residence in Tule Lake, "I" changed his




mind., The manner in which he led up to his declaration was
very interesting., At the beginning of the conversation he
complained over the sorry state of the attitude of the inhabi-
tants of Tule Lakes

"I'm getting sick of the_ attitude of the people. They are
cutting each others throats." wl

He then launched into a denunciation of the Co-op which will
be quoted in the discussion of the Hitoml killing. He continued:

"when 1 came here 1 expected to find quite a different
atmosphere. \ilhen the people realized they were here for the
same reason, I expected that they would be willing to help a
guy when he needed it. Instead, now if you've got five dollars
they'll think of how they can get it away from you.

"Some of the smartest people I know are getting disgusted.
These are real intelligent people. They came here and expected
to find a cooperative atmosphere and they're pretty well dis-
gusted. Thelr remarks add up to something like this: 'It's
not a case now of whether I want to 70 back to the old gcountry,
It's a case of whether 1 can stay here long enough to go back
to the o0ld country and still retain my self-respect.

"The trouble 1s they expect you to act like a damn radical
and go out and kill every hakujin on the other side of the fence
and when you don't act 1like that you are an inu.

After this introduction, "I" stated dramatically,
"o tell you the truth, 1'm considering relocation.”

"The only reason 1'd consider relocation is that I've got
a pretty good thing coming up. As you should know by this time,
the majority of nisel came in here becauss they didn't want to
go into the Army, That's one of the maln reasons why the nisel
are here, 98% of them, myself included, I couldn't see fit to
pack a gun for something I dldn't see my way clear to. If they
had treated us differently, 1 would have volunteered. Now,
seeing as how they're deferring people over 26, I think I might
take a chance.

"You see, if the war lasts three more years, i'll be 33.
Then I get deported to Japan, I1It'll take me ten years to get
on my feet, It seems to me Germany is going to pull a flopperoo.
I wouldn't want to be here when that happens. I don't care if
Japan has 17 kinds of Yamato Damashi, she isn't going to be able
to buck fighting three big nations.

Ik remarkably prophetic statement, considering it was made
seven days before Hitomi's murder,




"Believe it or not, a fellow told me the other day that
Japan was going to have a decisive victory and that the war would
be over in seven days! A girl told me the other day, 'You're
so thoroughly Americanized, I don't believe you belong here.'

"My coming here was in itself a defense mechanism, It
was another retallatory actlon to get even with the way I'd
been treated previously. On the other hand, I feel that in
retaliating 1 not only hurt the government, but eventually, I1'll
hurt myself more,"

"The only people Japan actually wants are those she can
use immediately after the war, diplomats and persons with
Engineering lDegrees. I've been telling people, if Japan should
lose the war, where there's a very good chance of her doing
right now, and 1f we were to relocate and were placed on the
same standard of living as the negro in this country, we'd still
be able to have a better standard of living than the poor people
in Japan. Desides, when the Japanese went to the south, they
were never treated as the negroes were,"

"I" assured the wrlter that the camp life and the unfa-
vorable war news appeared to be affecting some of the older
peoples' mindss

"A lot of the o0ld men are getting goofier and goofier.
They stand around in the latrines and mutter to themselves. I
think they're losing their minds,"

When the writer asked "I" what the possible effect of the
news of a Japanese victory in the Facific might have on the
camp's population, he said:

"I'd hate to see it happen., In spite of the fact that the
Internal Security 1s on the lookout for short wave broadcasts,
if the local broadcasts were to confirm the victory and the

ahortwave broadcasts were to exaggerate it, I don't think there'd
be no holding the pressure gang in hers,"

"When asked what the effect of a pronounced Allied victory
might be, "I" guessed:

"I've often wondered, If there were a very declsive victory,
I think there'd be a great breakdown in morale. Especially
among certain people who have declided that Japan couldn't lose.
fiith the breakdown in morale there would come a time when some
of them would try in some way to avenge the defeat of Japan,
When that happens, they'd better start building more fences,"l

1ibid., June 25, pp. 1-3.




The next day, when "K", a sincere repatriate was asked
how the course of the war was affecting the colonists, he sald:

"Those persons who will change their minds now are no
good to either country. These boys who fluctuate are no good.
You'll find there are many of that kind. You know, only half
of the people here are registered to go to Japan. They just
want to wait and see how it turns out. 1f Japan wins they want
to go to Japan and if the United States, wins, they want to
stay here. Ilt's disgraceful. It makes me ashamed of the
Japanese race, especlally the 1ssel.

"But if America didn't evacuate the second generation,
then probably most of them would have sworn to support the
United States, and would have fought in this war. Now they're
wllling to go out whether they're desplsed or not.

"I've talked to many of them, They say, 'I'm going back
to Japan.' Then 1 ask, '"Then why aren't you studying?'

"They're not studyving. Tns?'re Just fooling around and
gambling and having a good time."

"K" remarked at this interview that he had just had a

long argument with an issel frilend over some of Japan's policles.
"K" had felt that some of Japan's policles were not above

criticiam,

"If I go to Japan and speak as I've spolen today 1'll be
throwa in jall. Thore is no questlon of that. I think the
country should be improved in several ways. But 1f I weren't

*in love with Japan I wouldn't criticize hera., Yet, if I 4id
galk %1ko I talked today, (in Japan) I should be thrown in
all. :

"K" added that this was the one thing that caused him conc rn
over his decilsion to expatriate. Sinece childhood, he had been
honest and outspoken and he feared that he will be too inclined
to speak frankly when he arrives in Japan.l
"Y", a kibel, when discussing the war situation, saids
"I think mors people will ask for relocation, especially

the nisel. But the majority of the residents won't give up.
I think there are a lot of people, even if we lose Kyushu,

3
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Manlla and 3ingapore -- we won't give up. The bombings don't
mean nothing., But there will be a lot of people who'll say,
'"Well, the Allles are winning; let's go out.'"

ADMINISTRATLIVE ATTITUIES

A meeting of the Community Management Division held on
June 20, betrayed some significant Administrative Attitudes.

The meeting opened with the announcement that Mr. Huycke,
head of Communlity Activities, had been ralsed to a P4 rating.
It will be remembered that at the beginning of June, Mr. Huycke
had Decome so unpopular with the evacuees that the war chairman
had attempted unsuccesasfully to get from under his jurisdiction,

lir. Bagley, the Head of Velfare gave a short speech in
which he stated that hia sectlon had a dase load of 2,200 to
3,000 cases per month., One possible means of reducing this
load was belng contemplated: to take employment from single

persons or couples and glive 1t to the heads of familles of four,

"It costs less to have a single person on welfare than a family

of four." In other centers, said Mr. Bagley, families in pos-
gsession of a cash sum of {500 were still allowed to become
Vielfare cases, it belng assumed that they might employ this
case surplus for relocation. This surplus was not allowed at
Tule Lake. Moreover, Tule Lake was the only center which
suffered from an employment shortage. Mr. Bagley stated, in
addition, that hls department was busily employed on the
problem of stimulating relocation. They had initiated a study
of 50 familles of Tule Lake residents who according to the
records had not applled for repatriation. However, when they

bezan on the study they found that 43 of these 50 families had

lrune 23, p. 2.




actually apnlied. None of those interviewed were open to any
persuasion.

lhen Mr. Bagley had finished his speech Mr., Black opened
the floor for questions. A teacher inquired if there were any
positions which were not filled, Mr. Black said thore were
many openings for clerical workers and that it was very diffi-
cult to get teachera for the mursery school although many of the
evacuee zirls were qualified for the work. If any applicant
for work was offered a job and refused it, he was not eligible
for welfare. The great majority of the unemployed persons were
in the unskilled labor groups.

The questions now turnad to the subject of the stockade.
It was apparent that many of the staff members, particularly
the teachers, were extremely curious over the policy of the
Administration in regard to the interneas, over the treatment
they received and over the process of internment and release.
A member of the police force asked Mr. Bagley what could be
done for four internses who had broken their glasses. Bagley
explained a complicated process for procuring glasses but was
interrupted by a staff member who suggested that in consideration

of the limited view in the stockade, the internees had seen

Just about all they could see and had no need for glasses.

This remark caused some laughter. Mr, Black then announced
that & number of the aliens in the stockade were soon to be
removed to Santa Fe, from where, in course of time, they might
g0 to Crystal City to joln their families. This, stated Black,
would be very nice because at Crystal City they micht lead a

really normal family life. (When this was carriei out it was




not generally regarded as a plece of good fortune either by the
persons removed to Santa Fe or by their friends and neighbors
remaining in Tule Lake.)

A teacher then asked point blank why persons were put in the
stockade and how they were released. Mr, Black, appearing very
nervous and 111 at ease explained that internment in the stockade
rested entirely on the judgment of Mr. Best and that the project
director had full power to put a colonist there and keep him
there Just as long as he considered that his presence was a danger
or detriment to the pence of the colony. Another teacher then
asked what kind of trial was given the interned men. Mr. Black
replied that their records were examined by a committee consisting
of the Project Attorney, the head of Community Management and
the Chief of Police. These three men then made their decision
and recommended either continued detention or release. However,
the final approval of Mr. Best was required for all releases.

To questions about the internees' recreation Mr. Black replied

that the men led a pretty happy life, phying baseball and basket-
ball, waving and signalling in Japanese characters to their friends
inside the center. He added that construction had begun on a

new stockade siltuated near the entrance of the camp. This cons-

tructlon included a Jall capable of holding twelve pemsom;.1

THE HITOMI MURLER

The Hitomi murder which occurred on July 3, climaxed a surge
of tension and unease which began in the latter part of May and
increased steadily until the end of June at which time the

atmosphere of the camp had reached a peak of fantastic unreality.

libid., June 20, pp. 3-5.




The first symptom of popular unrest manifested itself in an un-
precedented amount of uncomplimentary gossip about the staff of
the Co-operative Enterprises and the inu in general. The bitter-
ness and vituperative tone of this gossip which was indulged in
by the even the most conservative of individuals completely over-
shadowed even that of the tense period of mid-April. Then,
beginning in mid-June a serles of assaults was committed upon
persons suspected of being inu; these men were waylayed at night
and severely beaten by mysterious assailants who could not be
apprehended by the police, With attitudes ranging from acid
relish to puzzled disapproval each new beating was recounted. An
ominous and almost psychopathlc atmosphere pervaded the camp and,
toward the end of June, when the chief topics of conversation
were the latest beatings and guesses as to who would be next, the
tension became almost unbearable. Several informants remarked,
"I wish I could get out of this place." Even in the most conser-
vative homes the evil doings of the dogs was the chief topic of
conversation, Discussions of the blacklists, which were supposed
to contain the names of tle "dogs" in order of their guilt, were
common., Whispered hints that one of the assaults might end in
murder were heard occasionally. The ordinary camp resident
himself did not make threats of murder, nor did he know who was
compiling the hypothetical lists. But even though he might
disapprove of the beatings, he joined wholeheartedly in the
gossip and every new story of a particularly dastardly action on

the part of a "dog" was enthusiastically passed along. Whenever

a person was beaten, the news spread rapidly and the detalls of
the story and of the victims'misdeeds which had caused the beating




were enlarged and distorted in the manner of a folk tale. Many
persons, especlally nisel women expressed shock and disapprobation,
but the most usual reaction to a new beating was, "Well, I see
another dog got what was coming to him."

As has been stated, the specific surge of public feeling
which culminated in the murder began late in May about a week
before the Okamoto shooting. The fundamental causes, however,
had a long history; some of them extended back to the first few
weeks after segregation. The three most significant of these
causes were: (1) General hostility to the Japanese Staff of
the Co-operative Enterprises; (2) General hatred of the stool-
pigeons, the inu or dogs who tattled to the Administration;

(3) The presence of the small but well organized, underground,
pro-Negotiating Committee pressure group, and the conscious or
unconscious support given to the propaganda spread by this group
by many of the camp residents. At times, during the eight months
of Tule Lake's existence as a segregation center, these factors
developed separately and at times they combined to produce both
the events and attitudes which preceded the murder.

The hatred which a large number of the transferees developed
toward the old Tule Lake residents very soon after their arrival
has been described.l This hatred was partly based on the belief
that many of the old Tuleans had chosen to remain in camp not
out of desire to return to Japan but merely because they did not
want to move, that they were fence-sitters and unworthy to share
the same camp with the transferees, that because of their conviec-

tions they were predisposed to partiality toward the Administration

1Seo pPP. 15-19 of the pre-incident discussion.




and were willing to act as informers, 'The initial distrust of
the Co-operative Enterprises has also been described.l 4his
sprang from several factors: The fact that the Tule Lake Co-
operative offered a number of seemingly expensive items for sale
some Of which like mops, pails and brooms, the transferees had
been accustomed to receive rrom the WRA at tine projects from
which they came, ‘the sale of certain wares which some of the
colonists considered unnecessary luxuries which tempted them to
spend their small resources foolishly was also resented.2 The
large proportion of old Tule Lake residents employed by the Co-op
was resented by the unemployed newcomers and encouraged the
popular belief that these men had become so well entrenched in
thelir lucrative positions that they had refused to move from
Tule Lake, Many colonists believed that the men holding high
positlions 1n the Co-op were making more money by grafting in
Tule Lake than they could make if they relocated. The Co-op was
also accused of nepotism and an almost fantastic amount of graft,

In early December, when the leaders of the Dalhyo Sha Kail

had been interned, and the puzzled and disorganlzed remnants of

the organizatlion were attempting to keep the unhappy people to

the status quo, the Co-op earned the abiding hatred of the pro-
status quo. group by standing strongly against them, Representa-
tives of the lalhyo Sha Kal approached the Co-op Board of Directors
and demanded that the Co-op cease the selling of "luxury" items

so that the economically hard pressed people would feel less
tempted to break the status-quo. According to Dr. Opler, the

Iibid., p. 17.

2Fop expression of this attitude in a Dalhyo Sha Kal meeting, see
P. 19 of Maln Report.




granting of these demands would have brought about the financial
ruin of the Co-op. The Board of Directors refused to take the
responsibility for an action of such importance and put the propo-
sition up to the people. Vhen the vote was held on December 12,
the proposal of the Dalhyo Sha was defeated by a ratiom of © to 1,
carrying in only flve blocks.> By their strong stand by the
propaganda they put out before the election, the members of the
Co-op Board of Directors increased their unpopularity with the
pressure group. However, in this matter, they did not incur
unanimous popular resentment, since many of the colonists were
agalnst the status quo.

In late December and early January when certain Japanese
co-operated actively with the Administration in a successful
attempt to break the status quo, the list of residents bitterly
hated by the pro-status quo adherents increased. The Civie
Organizations staff, Shimada, Namekawa, Furakawa, Maeda and Naydo,
the Co-op officials, Akitsuki, Yamatanl, Ikemoto and Hitomi, and
certain ex-members of the Dalhyo Sha Kal among whom Yamatani and
Takahashi were most prominent, became known as dogs, par excellence,
or in camp parlance, "number one inu." This sentiment was held
by the pro-status quo supporters from the beginning of the
political coup which resulted in the defeat of the status quo,
It's growth among the bulk of the people was gradual and culminated
in a general rage which in the middle of april 1944, was making

lpor a detailed account see pp. 141-149 of Main Report,

2The history of the decline of the Co-ordinating Committee 1s too
long and involved to outline here. The render is re ed to the
detalled treatment in the Main Report and for specific e ssion
of the chronclogical developments of hostility to pp. 204F-
266-277, 284, 317-320.




itself shown by repeated threats of beating up the members of the
Co-ordinating Committee, Messrs. Akitsuki, Shimada, Naydo, Namekawa,
Yamatani, Okamoto, Naydo, and their advisor, Mr, Takehashi,l After
the resignation of this body, hostlle sentiment against them on

the part of the general public declined, From the date of the
resignation of the Co-ordinating Committee at the end of April

until the Okamoto shooting which occurred May 24, the camp entered
into a period of comparative serenity.

However, even during this calm period the inu were still
denounced frequently. In mid-April "K" criticized the Co-op
strongly and remarked that the older members of the Folice Force
were suspected of too friendly relations with the Administration,
At this time "K" also made a most remarkable prophesies of the
soclological future of the camp when he stated on april 12:

"Frankly speaking, you may convey to Mr. Robertson, that if
there 1s any trouble here, the trouble will be against the Japanese

only.

"It will not affect the Administration in any way. No demons-
tr‘atlon Wi.ll be made.--.-.....-

"The only thing that will kill it i1s for the Administration
to act in time to hasten the segregation of the Yes-Yes group,
the American loyalists. Lf they don't it will come to a head.
‘the only other way 1s to have the Army continually patrol the
CaMP...e.sThe only thing to do is to get the Yes-Yes group out,"?

At this period the first beating in which a man was assaulted
at night by mysterious assailants and injured so seriously that

he needed hospitaligzation took place.® Detalls are not known.
e e SR

lrhe history of the decline of the Co-ordinating Committee is too
long and involved to outline here. The reader is referred to the
detailed treatment in the Main Report and for specific expression
of the chronologlcal developments of hostility to pp. 204F-205,

66-277, 284, 317-320.

See Main Report, pp. 324, 325; also R.Hankey, Notes, April, 12, p. 3.
3ibid., p. 37. Other individuals had no doubt been assaulted during
the troubled period before and after the breaking of the status quo,
However, this is the first of the peculiar type of beating in which
a man was set upon, and beaten, after which the assailants made their
escape. Former beatings uaualiy were group affairs in which sew ral
people participated on both sides. (Check)




The man was reputed to be the brother of a man who showed the

movies in camp and "K" thought he had been beaten by members of

the Yes-Yes" group.

Mr. Kawali, the head of Housing who had taken an active anti-
status quo view in January was denounced by "N" early in May.l
The Civic Urganigations was criticlzed by pro-status cuo men
because 1t refused to appoint ex-stockade internees or ex-Daihyo
Sha Kal members to offices when they had been selected by the
people.< The ex-Co-ordinating Committee and the Internal Security
were agaln criticized in the presence of the writer in late May.,
The underground pressure group, working unceasingly for the release
of the stockade internees frequently voiced ominous threats against

by strong supporters of the 'R "grouy
the dogs. The following remarks made May 24/are typical and merit
repetition here:

"The Co-ordinating Committee kept thelr positions altogether
too long, not knowing they were not wanted. No matter how well
educated they were, they didn't know what they were doing."

"I don't think one of them will ever repatriate.”

"Not while I'm alive."S

The attempt made by the Livisional Responsible Men to forma
labor organization was regarded as a blatant effort to regain a
position of political prominence by the "Q" pressure group, It
did not affect their general position with the people however,

since it was not publicized.4

libid., Pe 345.
2ibid., pp. 352-353,
53ee Main Report pp. 324-325

%4v14., pp. 308-404.




The Rise of Gossip about the inu

. In first two weeka of June, when the writer visited homes

where she was considered an old friend, the conversation was almost
monopolized by gossip about the evil doings of the inu. On June 4,
"I"'s wife and her sister spoke with astonishing bitterness. Both
of these young women are nisei, and inclined to disapprove heartily
of aglitation. "I"'s wife sald that they had thought that when

they came to Tule Lake they would be through with inus, but now
they found that there were more of them than ever. "Every place
you look, you can see one." The sister remarked that you couldn't
even have a small meeting anywhere but what some inu would go and
report it to the Administration.l

On June 8th a similar obsession with the inu was observed in
a call on "Y', His wife and a male friend took part in the con-
versation,

““hat I can't understand,"” sald "Y", is what these inu think
they are getting out of it. They might end up with three or four
thousand dollars, but after the war, nobody will have them." The
writer ventured the opinion that it was doubtful if any of the
imu were making so much money. "No," sand "Y" scornfully, "They're
probably doing it Just for sixteen dollars a week."

"Y"'g kibel friend added, "They have an office now in 781,
It's run by a fellow named Fopler. He's a good guy but the fellows
working for him are inu." The friend stated that "Fopler" had
asked him to work for him,"but he wouldn't do it for anything.

Not with those guys (Opler's assistants) around, anyway."2

IK. Hankey, Notes, June 4, 1944, p. 3.

21bid., June 8, p. 1. The popular confusion of Dr. Opler's workers
w inu has caused him much concern.




The same day, "K", who like the two informants quoted above
had no connection with any of the pressure groups, said:

"Having inu around keeps everybody on edge. Everybody sus-
pects everybody elee and it has led to a great deal of hard feeling.
It keeps the people in a constant state of tention."l

On June 9, the wrliter was told by a high ranking member of
the Administration, an extremely reliable informant, that Mr.
Tatelshi, whom evacuees had long suapected of playing the role o
informer, was in truth Mr. Best's personal spy. Tateishi had

been a member of the Daihyo Sha Kal, and had been regarded with

suspicion by the ecolonists for many months. He had been given

employment on the staff of the Newell Star and the writer was

told that another Japanese, working on the paper, had joined the
staff for the express purpose of keeping an eye on Tateishi,
Though only this one case was admitted, it was rumored that
several other young men had jolned the staff with the same motive
of counterespionage. Moreover, Mr, Best had placed Tateishi

over an organigation which was called the "Research Lepartment."
Exactly what the functions of this "research" department were,
was never made clear, but every colonist who knew of it, believed
that 1t was an organigation of informers. To Dr. Opler's anger
and dismay, Tatelishl established an office in block seven and

placed a sign reading "Research Department" at the door. Since

Opler had long been attempting to accomplish his work under the

guise of "research"™ and since their offices were in the same
block, Opler's office was placed under great stigma. Dr. Opler
protested violently to Mr. Best but considerable time elapsed
before Tatelshi's sign was taken down,2

1ibia., June 8, p. 3.
21pid,, June 9, p. 1, June 15, p. 6.




THE BEATINGS

The first beating of this period which came to the attention
of the authorities was that of Hitomi's brother. This occurred
around the 12th of May (get exact date). Very 1little information
on why Mr, Hitoml was beaten was obtalnable. At first it was
rumored that the aaéailanta had mistaken him for his brother
Yaozo. Other informants then stated, that perhaps it wasn't
a mistake. The cleerest explanation of motive came from an
informant who stated that Yaozo Hitomi, the manager of the Co-op
was in the habit of giving the most desirable positions at his
disposal to relatives and friends from Sacramento and that the
brother, a recent transferee, was, soon after his arrival, given
the position of Manager of the Sewing Machine factory. As has
been pointed out frequently one of the transferees' major resent-
ments was that the old Tuleans had and held good positions while
they themselves unemployed. This flagrgnt example of nepotism,
in which a new arrival received a good position almost as soon as
he entered camp Just because he was Hitomi's brother, was deeply
resented and may have been the chlef reason for the beating,

Few expressions of sympathy for the beaten man were heard.
However, "K", who always strove to be fair, made the following
remarks

"Hitomi had a brain concussion, He may be left totally
blind. His left eye will be blind, I hear. Hitomi 1s not to
be blamed. He came back from a concentration camp just a little
while ago., But his brother 1s manager of the Co-op. And people
had a grievance against the mangfer of the Co-op. Then this
fellow who is innocent gets 1it,

BEATING OF MORIMOTO

The next beating took place a few nights later when Morimoto,

lipia., Juns 17, p. 2.




